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CONCILIATION SERVICE

IN THE MATTER OF ARBITRATION
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AMERICAN FEDERATION OF FMCS Case No. 05-04730
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES,
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OPINION AND AWARD
INTRODUCTION
The undersigned was designated arbitrator for the above captioned grievance by the
parties pursuant to the rules and procedures of the Federai.Mediation and Conciliation Service
(hereinafier “FMCS”). Hearings were held on August 1-3 and October 16-19, 2007, March 11-
14, April 15-18 and April 22-24, 2008 at the Training Center of the Federal Correcticnal
Institution, Schuylkill, Pennsylvania. Both parties appeared with their witnesses and proof. Full
opportunity was afforded 1o the parties to be heard, examine and cross examine witnesses, and to

offer evidence and argument. Briefs postmarked no later than July 9, 2008 and Reply Briefs

postmarked no later than September 10, 2008 were submitted.




ISSUES (Stipulated By The Parties)
(1) Whether the Union’s grievance is barred because it fajled to attempt to informally resolve the

grievance.

(2) Whether the Union’s grievance is barred because it failed 1o state the specific ways Agency

policy, Executive Order or statute were violated.
(3) Did the Bureau of Prisons, FCI Schuylkill (hereinafter “Agency™) suffer or permit bargaining

unit employees as stated in the grievance assigned to work correctional posts to perform work

before and/or afier their scheduled shifis without compenszation in violation of the Fair Labor

Standards Act and the parties® Master Agreement? If so, what js the remedy?
A. PROCEDURAL 1SSUES (ISSUES NO. 1 and 2)

FACTS

On January 23, 2004, at a Labor Management Relations (hereinafier “LMR”) meeting,

management ( also referred to herein as “the Agency”) raised an issue with regard to working

times vis a vis scheduled shifts (commonly referred to as a portal to portal issue). Agenda item 4

on that date stated as follows:

“M[anagement]: Beginning immediately, all staff must adhere to their scheduled shift
starting and stopping times. Staff are to begin there (sic) shift no earlier than five minutes before
their shift is to begin, or end their shift five minutes after the scheduled end of their shift, without
compensation. This includes Correctional Gfficers. Prior approval must be made with a
supervisor for a staff member to begin or end their shift at any different time than

scheduled.”(AgEx Al)

James Seidel testified that he had just become President of the union and did not




understand what the foregoing agenda item was about in Januvary, 2004. He testified that he
talked to other locals about the problem in an effort to understand management’s peint.
On March 24, 2004, at an LMR meeting, agenda item 4 was denominated “Portal to

Portal”. The minutes stated the following:

“M: We are requesting you submit any portal to portal issues or concerns that you may
have at this time. We are requesting this respense be provided by the next meeting, if not
sooner. Our geal is to review your response and address any concerns,”

U: What do you mean by ‘identifying portal to portal issues?’

M: The time it takes when a person anrives at work to get to their post or when they leave
their post at the end of their shift and arrive at the front door. Staff are on the clock when

they arrive in the key line or when switching keys at a post.”(AgEx A1)

Mr. Seidel testified he had no idea what management was talking about and believed
management’s definjtion of when staff were on the clock to be contradictory. The current union
President, then the Chief Steward, Pati Manbeck testified that there was a 1510 20 minute
discussion about the agenda jtem with the unjon teking the position that every employee should
be considered on the clock at the prison Contro] Center. She stated that the union explained that
it did not make sense for a non-correctional officer such as a case manager 10 be on the clock
when he or she passed the Control Center, but that a correctional officer would not be until he or
she arrived at a post. Ms. Manbeck testified that the union argued that correctional officers had to
pick up equipment at the Control Center (e.g. radio holders, batteries, and crew kits) but
menagement took the position that duty status for correctional officers only depended on where
keys were exchanged,

By memo dated May 11, 2004 from Mr. Seidel to Neil Robinson, Associate Warden and

LMR Chairperson, the union requested that the following agenda item be placed on the calendar



for the LMR meeting the next day: “Correctional Services Manual, Posted Picture File, and Post

Orders - scheduling times for custody staff to review.”( That was union agenda jtem #4.)(UnEx

Al) While these items were never reached, the minutes of the meeting held on May 12, 2004

reflected a lengthy discussion about the general concept of portal to portal. The union advised:

“There are portal to portal jssues and we are working on a time and Moticn Survey. We will

address this further in our agenda itermn #4.” The minutes further quoted the union as stating that jt

had received conflicting information about starting and stopping times, and asked for a verbal

definition of starting and stopping times. Afier caucusing, the management team responded that

“staff have a ten (10) minute window for the day. The shift begins when and where you draw

keys or exchange keys.”(AgEx A1)

On June 2, 2004, management reached union agenda item #4 from the previous meeting,

The minutes state the following:

“M: Tt is not mandatory for staff to sign the Correctional Services Manual. The Post
Orders are signed while on post. .. .. As scon as Computer Services updates the Posted Picture
File on LAN, staff will be able to review the Posted Picture File on LAN. Staff wil] then utilize a

form to certify they have reviewed the Posted Picture File.”(AgEx Al)

Management thereafier asked if the unjon had any portal to portal issues to bring to its

attention and was advised that the union was sti]] working on gathering the information from the

bargaining unit.

At some point between June 2, 2004 and the July 23, 2004 LMR, management prevented

correctional officers from entering the institution until five minutes prior to their shift time.

While this practice lasted for only ene to two days, Mr. Seidel testified that the decision to hold

at the departing shift was relieved late since

staff up in the front lobby resulted in chaos; and, th




the oncoming employees still needed to stop at the Control Center and then travel to their posts.

The July 23, 2004 LMR minutes state, under “Portal Issues™:

“U: Staff are not being relieved promptly. s the 10 minute window enough? Recently,
officers were told to stay in the front Jobby until five minutes before the start of their

shift.”(AgEx Al)

Management stated that it was not aware this had occurred. However, Mr. Seidel testified that a
Lieutenant, Judy Poling, was the individual preventing staff from entering the institution; and,
that he had spoken about the prbb}em with Lieutenants Breckon, Kovach and Crhme}y who told
him Lt. Poling had been directed by her supervisors 1o keep staff in the front lobby until five
minutes before their shift starting times because management was afraid of a big Jawsuit similar
to ones which had been filed at other institutions.

At the August 25, 2004 LMR, the union advised that it had “portal issues recognized at
this time” including “issues when staff need to stop at the control center for signing the Security
Inspection Sheets, picking up batteries, pagers, crew kits and rosters.” The minutes prepared by
management further quoted the union as stating it had additional issues “for the exchanging and
accountability of equipment in the OP trucks for oncoming and relief staff.” The union’s notes
stated, under “Portal Issues™:

“U: Start & stop times differ between U-n- M

Equipment pick up for all staff, sign in

i.e. pages (sic?), crew Kkits, batteries etc weapons accounts”(UnEx F)

Both the management and the union notes for August 25, 2004 stated that management said it
would look into the problems raised.

Correctional Officer James Shaup, who was taking notes at the meeting, testified that the

discussion that day took 15 to 20 minutes and that in addition to the items mentioned in the




minutes, “all the stuff that we had to pick up at control” was discussed as well as “Checking our

mailboxes” and “check[ing] in with the lieutenant, were discussed.(Tr, 523)

Former Associate Warden Nejl Robinson testified he did “not recall what the cutcome

was of the issue relating to inspection sheets, picking up batteries, pagers, crew kits and rosters.”

He acknowledged that “all of these things can take place and do for a number of the staff that

they’re doing their shift change™ and, “it’s something that is an all-in-one issue.”(Tr, 312)

Warden Robinson recalled that Captain Bebow and the Lieutenants looked at the issue, as wel] as

the issue raised about relief on the OP truck, but did not recall anyoene coming back to him and
saying “yesh, we do have a problem.”(Tr,313)

Ms. Manbeck testified that Captain Bebow talked to the union about changing the shift
start and stop times for the OP truck because he recognized a portal issue. In October, 2004 he

advised the union that start/stop times for the OP trucks would not be changed, but thata 15

minute grace period would be instituted for the inventorying of equipment. No *“grace period”

was ever implemented, however.

The March 16, 2005 LMR minutes indjcated that manzagement advised that it would be
addressing portal to portal concerns, “old or new” at this and all LMR meeetings.(AgEx A1) The

minutes steted that the union expressed a concern that “there may be issues with the Mission

Critical Roster” (whereby scheduling changes and reductions in the workforce were to be

implemented). Mr. Seidel testified that with respect to prior concerns conveyed by the unjon,

management had made changes to ease the burden of reading the Manual, but otherwise had done

nothing. He said that with the one exception, no old portal to portal issues had been resolved as

of the March 16, 2005 meeting. Mr. Seide] testified that manzagement would invariably ask the




union at LMR meetings whether it hed portal to pertal issues, but then do nothing when issues

were raised.

At the next LMR meeting on April 27, 2005, the minutes kept by management indicate

that management esked if the union had identified any portal to portal issues since the last

meeting. The minutes quote the unjon response as being “Not at this time. We are stll

researching and if any are found we will bring them to your attention.” The minutes then quote

management as stating: “We will continue 1o ask this at every meeting.”(AgEx. A1) Mr. Seidel

denjed that management’s minutes were accurate and testified that the union did not sign off on

them for that reason.
On May 25, 20085, the dzate of the following LMR meeting, Robert Bastian, an Associate

Warden who was acting LMR Chairman that day, asked at the outset of the meeting whether the

unicn had any portal to portal issues to submit. Mr. Seidel handed management a document

which was essentially a grievance form (but with those preprinted sections which identified it as

a formal grievance form epparently deleted) which alleged the following:

“A continuing violation of the Master Agreement between the Federal Bureau of Prisons
and the Council of Prison Locals including . .. Article 3, Section b, . . [and] a continuing
violation of the overtime laws under Section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C.
§ 207 (a) and the Office of Personnel Management regulations implementing the FLSA in
the federal sector, which are set forth at § CFR Part 551.”(Joint Ex. 2)

The form alleged that informal resolution had been attempted with Neil Robinson, and

further alleged the following:

“From May 24, 2002, as well as before, and continuing and ongoing to the present the
Agency is requiring bargaining unit employees . . . to begin work prior to the start of their
shift. There are approximately 123 correctional officer posts in which this occurs each
time there is the start of a shift and the end of a shift. Specifically, all employees who
work at these posts are not being paid for compenszble pre-shift and post-shift duties,”




Mr. Seidel testified that the unjon advised Mr. Bastian that the purpose of the form was to

start informal resolution (Transcript, 59; Un.Ex. A5). He stated the following:

“We had pointed out 1o management different things, such as the OPs, such as basically
every custody post that was in there. . . Menagement said okay, noted. But then they never
came back with any kind of resolve for it and management had even stated . . . that they
would fix it. .. they weren’t doing it ... So when we handed this in, this was in hopes
that management would say okay. .. we were hoping to get management to comply with
what they said they were going to do, and they never did.” (Tr, 62-63)

Mr. Seidel further testified that before the May 25, 2005 LMR meeting, he had a
conversation with Warden Robinson in the latter’s office(Tr, 197) . He recalled the following:
“[Warden Robinson] said, well, Mr. Seide] before you leave, do you have any portal
issues? And I started Jaughing ... I’'m like, why are you going to ask me that? You know
we have portal issues. And he basically said, we know that you have portal issue (sic). In
fact, we know that the whole Bureau has portal issues. If they didn’t have portal issues,

they would put a time clock out in the front lobby, and let everybody stamp their card
when they walk in and stamp their card when they walk out. It would save the Bureau

millions if they didn’t have a portal issue,

I s2id to him, well, why are you going to ask me this question? And he said, well, it’s just
one of the things we have to do every time we bump into the union, we have to ask that.”

(Tr, 198-199)

Mr. Seidel stated that after he handed the document to Warden Bastian at the May 25,
2005 meeting, he attempted to speak to Warden Holt zbout the problem. According to Mr.
Seidel, however, Warden Holt:*basically sajd, that’s okay, I already heard it from my LMR,
We're good. We're good.™(Tr, 1 15) Mr. Seide] testified that Warden Holt “didn’t want to hear
anylhi;}g about it. . . It was basically that subject was closed to talk about.”(Tr, 1 15)

Thereafter, by Formal Grievance Form dated Tune 8, 20085, the union filed a grievance
with the Agency’s Northeast Regional Director. The grievance is substantially similar to the

document tendered (and dated) May 25, 2003, except that it stated (1) it is a “Formal Grievance



Form”, (2) that informal resolution was attempted with Bob Bastian, Acting LMR Chairperson

and Ronnie R. Holt, and (3) the person with whom it was filed was D. Scott Dodrill, Northeast
Regional Director, and not Ronnie R. Holt, Warden - FCI Schuylkill.(JtEx 2)

Two Jetters in response were written by the Agency. By letter dated June 22, 2008,

Warden Holt advised counsel for the unijon that Mr. Robinson had stated he had po knowledge of

or attempt by a union representative to informally resclve a portal to portal issue, and that at

numerous LMR meetings during the last 18 months, management had inquired if any portal to

portal issues had been identified by the union. The letter stated that the union had provided a

number of “possible” portal to portal issues and management *“made the necessa changes
p i) =] 3

successfully addressing each issue presented by the unjon.” Warden Holt added that to Mr.

Robinson’s knowledge, “there were no jtems that were unresolved . . . by management.”(tEx 3)

Additionally, Warden Holt wrote that more specific information was needed to determine

whether management was requiring union members to begin work prior to the end of their shifts
and to end afier the end of their shifts. He stated that “Due to a lack of specificity, I am unable to
determine that any violation occurred, therefore your grievance is denied.”(JtEx 3)
Regional Director Dodrill wrote to the unjon’s counsel on June 29, 2005 and summarized
manzgement’s LMR meeting minutes since January, 2004. He concluded that management “has
continually discussed possible portal-to-portal issues with the Union . . . tbut] Even though, for at
least the past three years, the Union indicated they would provide any concerns to management,

they instead filed a grievance on May 25,2005 .. ."(JtEx 3) Mr. Dodrill cited Article 31, Section

b of the Master Agreement by which the parties strongly endorse the concept that grievances

when the Union presented specific issues to

should be resolved informally. He then wrote that ©




management, they were suecessfully addressed.” He stated that no “recent issues” had been

presented to management, and consequently Article 31, Section b of the Master Agreement had

not been followed. Finally, Mr. Dodyil] cited the Agency’s Program Statement 3000.02, Chapter

6, page 3b for the proposition that employees were responsible for promptly reviewing their time

and attendance reports and notifying their timekeepers of any discrepancies. He concluded that

because no evidence was presented to demonstrate that staff requested and were denjed

compensation, he was unable 1o find that any violations occurred.
Thereafier, this grievance was submitted to the FMCS for arbitration.

MANAGEMENT'S ARGUMENT

Management contends that contrary 1o the requirements of Article 31, Section b of the

Master Agreement, the union failed to make either a reasonable or concerted effort toward

informal rescolution. Management states that it pro-actively attempted to address any potential

portal to porta] issues by frequently raising the issue at the monthly LMR meetings beginning

with the January and March, 2004 meetings; and, that no portal to portal issues were raised by

the union unti] the August 25, 2004 meeting. It is stated that manzagement indicated it would Jook

into the ssues presented. Subsequently, management again raised portal to portal at the March

and April, 2005 meetings and was told by the unjon at the April meeting that it was still

researching.

Management states that if the issues were not, in fact, being resolved, a question arises as

to why the union did not continue 1o rajse the issues at LMR meetings. It is argued that although

vnion officials testified that they repeatedly brought up portal to portal issues, the union failed to

produce any of its LMR meeting minutes to support this allegation. Management contends that

10



“What the record shows is that jscues were rzised in the one and one-half years preceding the

grievance and never raiced again”and, that “no written support was provided for the Union’s

contention.”(AgBr, 8) Management concludes that because the unicn had no intention of

informally resolving the matier, but of proceeding directly to arbitration, the grievance should be

dismissed.

Management further argues that the grievance should be dismissed because of a lack of

specificity. It states that although the Master Agreement does not specifically mention specificity,

it does mandate that grievances be filed on the Bureau of Prisons “Formal Grievance” forms

(citing Article 31, Section 1); and, that Box 6 of that form states: “In what way were each of the

above [Federal Prison System Directive, Executive Order, Statute] violated? Be specific.”

(emphasis in Agency Brief, 9) Manzgement states that in the formal grievance form, the specific

posts involved are not included, nor are the alleged activities being performed before and after

the shifts. Accordingly, management requests the grievance be dismissed because it is not

specific enough,

UNION’S ARGUMENT

The union states that the Agency has the burden of proofto establish its procedural

defenses; and, cites authority for 2 general presumption that favors arbitration over dismissal of

grievances on technical grounds. The union argues that Article 31, Section b does not require

informal resclution but simply states that it is “strongly endorse[d]” by the parties. It further

contends that assuming the Master Agreement does require informal resolution, the union

satisfied that obligation. The unjon states that jt did not file the grievance on May 25, 2005 but

rather “presented management with a copy of the grievance to further its informal resolution

attempts because management had not been taking [its] effort to informally resolve it seriously,”

11
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INTRODUCTION
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ISSUES (Stipulated By The Parties)
(1) Whether the Union’s grievance is barred because it failed to attempt to informally resolve the

grievance,

(2) Whether the Union’s grievance is barred because it failed to state the specific ways Agency
policy, Executive Order or statute were violated.

(3) Did the Bureau of Prisons, FCI Schuylkill (hereinafter “Agency™) suffer or permit bargaining
unit employees as stated in the grievance assigned to work correctjonal posts to perform work
before and/or after their scheduled shifts without compensation in violation of the Fair Labor
Standards Act and the parties’ Master Agreement? If so, what is the remedy?

A. PROCEDURAL ISSUES (ISSUES NO. 1 and 2)

FACTS
On January 23, 2004, at a Labor Management Relations (hereinafter “LMR”) meeting,
management ( also referred to herein as “the Agency”) raised an issue with regard to working

times vis a vis scheduled shifts (commonly referred to as a portal to portal issue). Agendaitem 4

on that date stated as follows:

“M[anagement]: Beginning immediately, all staff must adhere to their scheduled shift
starting and stopping times. Staff are to begin there (sic) shift no earlier than five minutes before
their shift is to begin, or end their shift five minutes after the scheduled end of their shift, without
compensation. This includes Correctional Officers. Prior approval must be made with a
supervisor for a staff member to begin or end their shift at any different time than

scheduled.”(AgEx Al)

James Seidel testified that he had just become President of the unjon and did not



understand what the foregoing agenda jtem was about in January, 2004. He testified that he
talked to other locals about the problem in an effort to understand management’s point.
On March 24, 2004, at an LMR meeting, agenda item 4 was denominated “Portal to

Portal”. The minutes stated the following:

“M: We are requesting you submit any portal to portal issues or concerns that you may
have at this time. We are requesting this response be provided by the next meeting, if not
sooner. Our goal is to review your response and address any concerns.”

U: What do you mean by ‘identifying portal to portal issues?’

M: The time it takes when a person arrives at work to get to their post or when they leave

their post at the end of their shift and arrive at the front door. Staff are on the clock when

they arrive in the key line or when switching keys at a post.”(AgEx Al)

Mr. Seidel testified he had no idea what management was talking about and believed
management’s definition of when staff were on the clock to be contradictory. The current union
President, then the Chief Steward, Pati Manbeck testified that there was a 15 1o 20 minute
discussion about the agenda itemn with the union taking the position that every employee should
be considered on the clock at the prison Control Center. She stated that the union explained that
1t did not make sense for a non-correctional officer such as a case manager to be on the clock
when he or she passed the Control Center, but that a correctional officer would not be until he or
she arrived at a post. Ms. Manbeck testified that the union argued that correctional officers had to
pick up equipment at the Control Center (e.g. radio holders, batteries, and crew kits) but
management took the position that duty status for correctional officers only depended on where
keys were exchanged.

By memo dated May 11, 2004 from Mr. Seidel 1o Neil Robinson, Associate Warden and

LMR Chairperson, the union requested that the following agenda item be placed on the calendar




for the LMR meeting the next day: “Correctional Services Manual, Posted Picture F ile, and Post
Orders - scheduling times for custody staff to review.”( That was unjon agenda item #4.)(UnEx
Al) While these items were never reached, the minutes of the meeting held on May 12, 2004
reflected a Jlengthy discussion sbout the general concept of portal to portal. The union advised:
“There are portal to portal issues and we are workin g on a time and Motion Survey. We will
address this further in our agenda item #4.” The minutes further quoted the union as stating that it
had received conflicting information about starting and stopping times, and asked for a verbal
definition of starting and stopping times. After caucusing, the management team responded that
“staff have a ten (10) minute window for the day. The shift begins when and where you draw

keys or exchange keys.*(AgEx Al)

On June 2, 2004, management reached union agenda item #4 from the previous meeting.

The minutes state the following:

“M: It is not mandatory for staff to sign the Correctional Services Manual, The Post
Orders are signed while on post. ... As soon as Computer Services updates the Posted Picture
File on LAN, staff will be able to review the Posted Picture File on LAN. Staff will then utilize a
form to certify they have reviewed the Posted Picture File.”(AgEx A1)

Management thereafier asked if the union had any portal to portal issues to bring to its
attention and was advised that the union was stjl] working on gathering the information from the
bargaining unit.

At some point between June 2, 2004 and the July 23,2004 LMR, management prevented

correctional officers from entering the institution unti] five minutes prior to their shift time.

While this practice lasted for only one to two days, Mr. Seide! testified that the decision to hold

staff up in the front lobby resulted in chaos; and, that the departing shift was relieved late since




the oncoming employees still needed to stop at the Control Center and then travel to their posts.
The July 23, 2004 LMR minutes state, under “Portal Issues”:

“U: Staff are not being relieved promptly. Is the 10 minute window enough? Recently,

officers were told 1o stay in the front lobby until five minutes before the start of their

shift.”(AgEx A1)
Management stated that it was not aware this had occurred, However, Mr. Seidel testified that a
Licutenant, Judy Poling, was the individual preventing staff from entering the institution; and,
that he had spoken about the problem with Lieutenants Breckon, Kovach and Clhmely who told
him Lt. Poling had been directed by her supervisors to keep staff in the front lobby unti] five
minutes before their shift starting times because management was afraid of a big lawsuit similar
to ones which had been filed at other institutions.

At the August 25, 2004 LMR, the union advised that it had “portal issues recognized at
this time” including “issues when staff need to stop at the control center for signing the Security
Inspection Sheets, picking up batteries, pagers, crew kits and rosters.” The minutes prepared by
management further quoted the union as stating it had additional issues “for the exchanging and
accountability of equipment in the OP trucks for oncoming and relief staff.” The union’s notes
stated, under “Portal Issues™

“U: Start & sfop times differ between U-n-M

Equipment pick up for all staff, sign in

i.e. pages (sic?), crew kits, batteries etc weapons accounts”(UnEx F)

Both the management and the union notes for August 25, 2004 stated that management said it
would look into the problems raised.

Correctional Officer James Shaup, who was taking notes at the meeting, testified that the

discussion that day took 15 to 20 minutes and that in addition to the items mentioned in the



minutes, “all the stuff that we had to pick up at control” was discussed as well as “Checking our
mailboxes” and “check[ing] in with the lieutenant, were discussed.(Tr, 523)

Former Associate Warden Neil Robinson testified he did “not recall what the outcome
was of the issue relating to inspection sheets, picking up batteries, pagers, crew kits and rosters.”
He acknowledged that “all of these fhings can take place and do for a number of the staff that
they’re doing their shift change”; and, “it’s something that is an all-in-one issue.”(Tr, 312)
Warden Robinson recalled that Captain Bebow and the Lieutenants Jooked at the issue, as well as
the issue raised about relief on the OP truck, but did not recall anyone coming back to him and
saying “yeah, we do have a problem.”(Tr,313)

Ms. Manbeck testified that Captain Bebow talked to the union about changing the shift
start and stop times for the OP truck because he recognized a portal issue. In October, 2004 he
advised the union that start/stop times for the OP trucks would not be changed, but that a 15
minute grace period would be instituted for the inventorying of equipment. No “grace period”
was ever implemented, however.

The March 16, 2005 LMR minutes indicated that management advised that it would be
addressing portal to portal concerns, “old or new” at this and all LMR meeetings.(AgEx Al) The
minutes stated that the union expressed a concern that “there may be issues with the Mission
Critical Roster” (whereby scheduling changes and reductions in the workforce were to be
implemented). Mr. Seide] testified that with respect to prior concerns conveyed by the union,
management had made changes to ease the burden of reading the Manual, but otherwise had done
nothing. He said that with the one exception, ne old portal to portal issues had been resolved as

of the March 16, 2005 meeting. Mr. Seidel testified that management would invariably ask the




union at LMR meetings whether it had portal 1o portal issues, but then do nothing when issues
were raised.

At the next LMR meeting on April 27, 2005, the minutes kept by management indicate
that management asked if the union had identified any portal to portal issues since the Jast
meeting. The minutes quote the union response as being “Not at this time. We are still
researching and if any are found we wil] bring them to your attention.” The minutes then quote
management as stating: “We will continue to ask this at every meeting.”(AgEx. A1) Mr. Seidel
denied that management’s minutes were accurate and testified that the union did not sign off on
them for that reason.

On May 25, 2005, the date of the following LMR meeting, Robert Bastian, an Associate
Warden who was acting LMR Chairman that day, asked at the outset of the meeting whether the
union had any portal to portal issues to submit. Mr. Seidel handed management a document
which was essentjally a grievance form (but with those preprinted sections which identified it as
a formal grievance form apparently deleted) which alleged the following:

“A continuing violation of the Master Agreement between the Federal Bureau of Prisons

and the Council of Prison Locals including . . . Article 3, Section b. . . [and] a continuing

violation of the overtime laws under Section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C.

§ 207 (a) and the Office of Personnel Management regulations implementing the FLSA in

the federal sector, which are set forth at 5 CFR Part 551.”(Joint Ex. 2)

The form alleged that informal resolution had been attempted with Neil Robinson, and

further alleged the following:

“From May 24, 2002, as well as before, and continuing and ongoing to the present the
Agency is requiring bargaining unit employees . . . to begin work prior to the start of their
shift. There are approximately 123 correctional officer posts in which this occurs each
time there is the start of a shift and the end of a shift, Specifically, all employees who
work at these posts are not being paid for compensable pre-shift and post-shift duties.”




Mr. Seidel testified that the union advised Mr, Bestian that the purpose of the form was to

start informal resolution (Transcript, 59: Un.Ex. AS5). He stated the following:

“We had pointed out to management different things, such as the OPs, such as basically
every custody post that was in there. . . Management said okay, noted. But then they never
came back with any kind of resolve for it and management had even stated . . . that they
would fix it . . . they weren’t doing it . . . So when we handed this in, this was in hopes
that management would say okay. .. we were hoping to get management to comply with
what they said they were going to do, and they never did.” (Tr, 62-63)

Mr. Seidel further testified that before the May 25, 2005 LMR meeting, he had a
conversation with Warden Robinson in the latter’s office(Tr, 197) . He recalled the following:
“[Warden Robinson] said, well, Mr. Seidel before you leave, do you have any portal
issues? And I started laughing . .. I’'m like, why are you going to ask me that? You know
we have portal issues. And he basically said, we know that you have portal issue (sic). In
fact, we know that the whole Bureau has portal issues. If they didn’t have portal issues,

they would put a time clock out in the front lobby, and let everybody stamp their card
when they walk in and stamp their card when they walk out. It would save the Bureau

mullions if they didn’t have a portal issue.

I said to him, well, why are you going to ask me this question? And he said, well, it’s just

one of the things we have to do every time we bump into the union, we have to ask that.”

(Tr, 198-199)

Mr. Seidel stated that after he handed the document to Warden Bastian at the May 25,
2005 meeting, he attempted to speak to Warden Holt about the problem. According to Mr.
Seidel, however, Warden Holt:"basically said, that’s okay, already heard it from my LMR,
We're good. We’re good.”(Tr, 115) Mr. Seidel testified that Warden Holt “didn’t want to hear
anything about it. . . It was basically that subject was closed to talk about.”(Tr, 1 15)

Thereafter, by Formal Grievance Form dated June 8, 2005, the union filed a grievance

with the Agency’s Northeast Regional Director. The grievance is substantially similar to the

document tendered (and dated) May 25, 2005, except that it stated (1) it is a “Formal Grievance




Form™, (2) that informal resolution was attempted with Bob Bastian, Acting LMR Chairperson
and Ronnie R. Holt, and (3) the person with whom it was filed was D. Scott Dodrill, Northeast
Regional Director, and not Ronnie R. Holt, Warden - FCI Schuylkill.(JtEx 2)

Two letters in response were written by the Agency. By letter dated June 22, 2005,
Warden Holt advised counsel for the union that Mr. Robinson had stated he had no knowledge of
or attempt by a union representative to informally resolve a portal to portal issue, and that at
numerous LMR meetings during the last 18 months, management had inquired if any portal to
portal issues had been identified by the union. The letter stated that the union had provided a
number of “possible™ portal to portal issues and management “made the necessary changes,
successfully addressing each issue presented by the unjon.” Warden Holt added that to Mr.
Robinson’s knowledge, “there were no items that were unresolved . . . by management.”(JtEx 3)
Additionally, Warden Holt wrote that more specific information was needed to determine
whether management was requiring union members to begin work prior to the end of their shifts
and to end after the end of their shifts. He stated that “Due to a lack of specificity, I am unable to
determine that any violation occurred, therefore your grievance is denied.”(JtEx 3)

Regional Director Dodrill wrote to the union’s counsel on June 29, 2005 and summarized
management’s LMR meeting minutes since January, 2004. He concluded that management “has
continually discussed possible portal-to-portal issues with the Union . . . [but] Even though, for at
Jeast the past three years, the Union indicated they would provide any concerns to management,
they instead filed a grievance on May 25,2005 .. ”(JiEx 3) Mr. Dodsill cited Article 31, Section
b of the Master Agreement by.w’hich the parties strongly endorse the concept that grievances

should be resolved informally. He then wrote that “when the Union presented specific issues to




management, they were successfully addressed.” He stated that no “recent issues” had been
presented to management, and consequently Article 31, Section b of the Master Apgreement had
not been followed. Finally, Mr. Dodrill cited the Agency’s Program Statement 3000.02, Chapter
6, page 3b for the proposition that employees were responsible for promptly reviewing their time
and attendance reports and notifying their timekeepers of any discrepancies. He concluded that
because no evidence was presented to demonstrate that staff requested and were denied
compensation, he was unable to find that any violations occurred.

Thereafter, this grievance was submitted to the FMCS for arbitration,

MANAGEMENT’S ARGUMENT

Management contends that contrary to the requirements of Article 31, Section b of the
Master Agreement, the union failed to make ejther a reasonable or concerted effort toward
informal resclution. Management states that it pro-actively attempted to address any potential
portal to portal issues by frequently raising the issue at the monthly LMR meetings beginning
with the January and March, 2004 meetings; and, that no portal to portal issues were rajsed by
the union until the August 25, 2004 meeting. It is stated that management indicated it would Jook
into the issues presented. Subsequently, management again raised portal to portal at the March
and April, 2005 meetings and was told by the union at the April meeting that it was still
researching.

Management states that if the issues were not, in fact, being resolved, a question arises as
to why the union did not continue to raise the issues at LMR meetings. It is argued that although
union officials testified that they repeatedly brought up portal to portal issues, the union failed to

produce any of its LMR meeting minutes to support this allegation. Management contends that
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“What the record shows is that issues were raised in the one and one-half years preceding the
grievance and never raised 2gain™;and, that “no written support was provided for the Union’s
contention.”’(AgBr, 8) Management concludes that because the union had no intention of
informally resolving the matter, but of proceeding directly to arbitration, the grievance should be
dismissed.

Management further argues that the grievance should be dismissed because of a lack of
specificity. It states that although the Master Agreement does not specifically mention specificity,
it does mandate that grievances be filed on the Bureau of Prisons “Formal Grievance” forms
(citing Article 31, Section f); and, that Box 6 of that form states: “In what way were each of the
above [Federal Prison System Directive, Executive Order, Statute] violated? Be specific.”
(emphe;sis in Agency Brief, 9) Management states that in the formal grievance form, the specific
posts invelved are not included, nor are the alleged activities being performed before and after

the shifts. Accordingly, management requests the grievance be dismissed because it is not

specific enough.

UNION’S ARGUMENT

The union states that the Agency has the burden of proof to establish its procedural
defenses; and, cites authority for a general presumption that favors arbitration over dismissal of
grievances on technical grounds. The union argues that Article 31, Section b does not require
informal resolution but simply states that it is “strongly endorse[d]” by the parties. It further
contends that assuming the Master Agreement does require informal resolution, the union
satisfied that obligation. The union states that it did not file the grievance on May 25, 2005 but
rather “presented management with a copy of the grievance to further its informal resolution

attempts because management had not been taking [its] effort to informally resolve it seriously.”
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(UnProcBr, 20) It states that the unrefuted testimony reflects that after the document was handed
o management at the May 25, 2005 meeting, the parties engaged in a discussion lasting
approximately 10 minutes regarding the ¢ircumstances surrounding the union’s potential
grievance. The union also states that it attempted informal resolution with Warden Holt
following the May 25, 2005 meeting but that Warden Holt closed off discussion, It concludes
that it was the Agency, not the union, which failed to participate in good faith during the informal
resolution discussions,

The union further states that even if it had filed the grievance on May 25, 2005, it still
satisfied the informal resolution requirement because (1) it had a contemporaneous discussion
with management at the LMR meeting that day, and (2) it exhaustively discussed the portal jssue
with management prior to May, 2005. The union contends that the undisputed evidence presented
during the hearing demonstrates that beginning on January 23, 2004, the parties discussed the
portal issue on numerous occasions over the span of more than one year; and, that “it took over
two days to present testimony and evidence regarding the substance of those conversations.”
(UnProcBr, 26) The union argues that it exhausted itself attempting to informally resolve the
grievance with management and that it eventually became apparent that management was not
going to reselve any of the issues rajsed by the union. It states: “At that point the Union
determined that future efforts would be futile and that it was necessary to formally deal with the
portal issue.” (UnProcBr, 27) The union concludes that 1t satisfied the purpose and intent of the
informal resolution provision.

With regard to the specificity argument, the union contends that no such requirement is
found in the Master Agreement. It argues that a grievance is not a pleading at law, and that if it

had pursued the case in court it would have only been required to provide “notice pleading”. It
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concludes that the Agency cannot impose an even higher burden on it in this less formal
arbitration forum. The union states that with the exception of the very few posts for which it
subsequently decided not to pursue a claim, it pursued the grievance for every post at FCI
Schuylkill - “Thus, the language concerning approximately 123 posts sufficiently put the Agency
on notice about which posts it needed to prepare to defend itself - i.e., every post.” (UnProcBr,
31) The union contends that this is not a grievance which suddenly surprised the Agency. It
further states that the grievance was sufficiently specific on its face, and concludes that with a
group grievance it is not possible to list each post and employee or to list the specific date on

which each violation occurred.

DECISION

Informal Resglution

Article 31, Section b of the Master Agreement between the parties states as follows:
“The parties strongly endorse the concept that grievances should be resolved informally

and will always attempt informal resolution at the lowest appropriate level before filing a
formal grievance. A reasonable and concerted effort must be made by both parties toward

informal resolution.”

Contrary to the union’s assertion that the sbove cited section does not require informal
resolution of an issue prior to the filing of a grievance, I find that informal resolution is
mandatory. The first sentence of the subsection quoted above is couched in terms of a strong
endorsement by the parties. The second sentence is rendered mandatory by the words: “must be
made.”

An objective review of the facts previously stated establishes that the union did attempt to
informally resolve the substance of this grievance, or parts thereof since at least March, 2004, At
the LMR in that month there was a 15 to 20 minute discussion between the parties as to when a

shift commenced for correctional officers. Management took the position that shifts began when
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keys were exchanged or when a correctional officer arrived in the key line. The union took the

position that shifts began when a correctional officer arrived at the control center and had to pick

up equipment such as batteries, radio holders and crew kits. The parties fundamentally disagreed

at the March 24, 2004 meeting over when shifis for correctional officers began.
At the May, 2004 LMR meeting (the next LMR meeting for which management minutes

were placed into evidence by management) there was a lengthy discussion between the parties

about management’s interpretation of starting and stopping times. The minutes quoted the union

as stating it had received conflicting information about starting and stopping times:

“For example, if a staff member is reporting for duty, walking between the front entrance
and control and there is an emergency, are they required to respond? At what point is staff
under the duress of a correctionel environment? What js the definition of when a staff

member is on duty?. . .” (AgEx “1"M

The discussion at that meeting continued with management asking whether those were “the only

ortal to portal issues vou are now aware of?” - and the union requestine a verbal definition “of
F y q g

starting and stopping times, and when these times take place.” Following a caucus, management
replied that “staff have a ten (10) minute window for the day” and continued by reiterating that a

shift begins when keys are drawn or exchanged. As of May, 2004, one must conclude that the

parties were engaged in discussions regarding the starting and stopping times of correctional
officers.

As previously noted, the union had requested that an agenda item regarding the review of
certain documents be placed on the agenda. Time did not permit consideration of these items
which were then raised at the June, 2004 LMR meeting. Two of the items - review of the

Correctional Services Manual and the Post Orders were apparently resclved. The issue of

compensation for correctional officers to review the Posted Picture File has never been resolved

and, indeed, forms a part of the substance of this grievance. In June, 2004, the parties were still
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discussing portal to portal issues, albeit ones peripheral to the main dispute,

It must be concluded that management was, at this point, concerned over the possibility
of a portal to portal claim for unpaid overtime - possibly under the Fair Labor Standards Act
("FLSA”, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq) because at some point during the summer of 2004 it
attempted, for a brief time at Jeast, to bring its correctional officers within the purview of the so-

called de minimis rule, most commenly cited in Lindow v. U.S., 738 F.2d 1057 (9™ Cir., 1984).

Lindow notes that “Most courts have found daily periods of approximately 10 minutes

de minimis even though otherwise compensable [under the FLSA]”. A Lieutenant, Judy Poling,
was preventing correctional officers from entering the institution until five minutes before their
shift starting times. I credit Mr. Seidel’s testimony that three other lieutenants had told him Lt.
Poling had been directed to do so because of concern about a major lawsuit. While the practice
was abandoned rather quickly, I find management’s statement that it was unaware of the
restriction {made at the July 23, 2004 LMR meeting) to be incredible. It is well established that

“Knowledge of its supervisors is imputed to the employer” (Cunningham v. Gibson Flectric Co..

Inc,, 43 F. Supp.2d 965 (1999).

A month aﬁ@ the meeting at which the union questioned the restriction on entering the
Institution, at the LMR meeting on August 25, 2004, the union raised numerous specific issues
with regard to starting and stopping times. I credit the union’s notes for this meeting which
reflect that equipment pick-up for all correctional staff, including pagers, batteries and crew kits
were discussed, that the accountability of weapons (especially for personnel in the Outside
Perimeter or “OP” trucks) was discussed (see also AgEx “1") ;and, I credit Correctional Officer
Shaup’s testimony that the checking of mailboxes and checking in with the lieutenant was also

discussed. Therefore, as of August 25, 2004, substantially all the issues raised in this grievance
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were on the table.

What happened? It appears that management did nothing to address any of the union’s
concerns. Associate Warden Robinson testified that Captain Bebow and the lieutenants looked at
what had been raised but nothing was done. I credit Ms. Manbeck’s testimony that Captain
Bebow told the union in October, 2004 that nothing would be done with regard to the OP trucks
except for a so-called 15 minute grace period, which in any event was never implemented. (Shifts
were, however, staggered by 15 minutes in 2007 - two and a half years later.)

The record then essentially went silent for months. Agency Exhibit 1", its LMR minutes,
skip from August, 2004 to March 16, 2005. Counse] for meanagement has valiantly attempted to
defend her client by arguing that the union simply let things lapse after raising their issues in
Avgust, 2004. But if no serious attempt was made by management to address the union’s
concerns, it is understandable why the union declined to keep raising the same points at every
LMR meeting thereafter - if there were any LMR meetings from August, 2004 to March, 2005.
Management, however, did work hard at repeating the mantra, “ Do you have any portal to portal
issues?” at both the March and April, 2005 LMR meetings. At the April meeting, management is
actually quoted in its minutes as stating it “will continue to ask this at every meeting.” (AgEx*“1™)
One comes away with the conclusion that management was largely interested in making a record,
but declined to actually address portal to portal issues when they were raised by the union.

Accordingly, I find that the union did make a reasonable and concerted effort to
informally resolve the grievance at LMR meetings before the document cutlining its objections
was handed to Assocjate Warden Bastian on May 25, 2005. Aside from the unjon’s approaches at
LMR meetings, I credit Mr. Seidel’s testimony about his meeting with Associate Warden

Rebinson in Warden Robinson’s office, Ms. Manbeck’s testimony about her conversations with
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Captain Bebow in October, 2004, and testimony by Correctional Officer Eugene Jacobs that he
discussed the portal to portal issues with Captain Bebow in the latter’s office, that Captain
Bebow agreed there was a “portal problem”, and that the two of them always concluded that “it
can’t be handled at a local level . . . It has to be taken care of at a national level.” (Tr 800-801,
818) Correctional Officer Jacobs is a unjon officer. Thus, informal attempis to discuss the subject
of this grievance were made outside of LMR meetings.

It has already been noted that on May 25, 2005 the union handed management a
document which stated its portal to portal complaints in writing. Although the union had already
attempted informal resolution of jts portal to portal complaints, I find that it handed management
the document out of an overabundance of caution in seeking to comply with Article 31, Section b

of the Master Agreement. Arbitrator David K. Mensour, in A F.G.E. Local 148 and Federal

Bureau of Prisons. USP [ewisburg. PA , FMCS No. 07-52364 (2008) found that the Master

Agreement revealed “no prescriptive form that the informal resolution process must take”(at p.8)
and concluded that the submission of a written memorandum followed by a meeting between the
warden and union president was sufficient to meet the requirement for informal resolution.

In the instant case, Mr. Seidel attempted to speak to Warden Holt following the

submission of the May 25, 2005 document, but was told, in essence, that the warden did not want

to discuss the issues,. These facts are substantially similar to those in FCI Miami and AFGE
Local 3690, FMCS No. 06-00504-3 (2006) in which Judge/Administrative Officer Robert B,
Hoffman found that the union’s efforts in filing a petition, followed by no effort at negotiation by

management started the informal process.

Accordingly, I find that the union complied with Article 3 1, section b both before

submitting the May 25, 2005 document ;and, in its submission of that document and
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management’s response,

Specificity

While the Master Agreement does not contain a particular requirement with respect to the
detail which must be contained in a grievance, nor a definition of the term, “grievance” (Federal

Bureau ofPrisons. FLS. La Tuna and AFGE I ocal 83, FMCS No. 02-13623 (2003)), elementary

fairness would require that the written grievance not mislead, or deprive the employer of an

opportunity to defend against the alleged violation (FCI Milen and AFGE 1741, FMCS No. 01-

09332 (2004)). As Judge/Administrative Officer Richard Edward Allen put it in FCI Milan and

AFGE TLocal 1741, supra, at 10:

*. .. the precise wording of a grievance should not be held to the same strict procedural
requirements as required by a court of law. Many Arbitrators will not dismiss a grievance
because the author of the grievance failed to cite exactly all the details involved in an alleged
violation. Certainly if a grievance is so vague and misleading, that it fails to place the alleged
offender on notice of the claimed violation, then that type of grievance may be dismissed because
it is inherently unfair to expect a party to defend itself against unknown or misleading charges.
The alleged offender should be given sufficient information to be able to investigate the charges,
and form an adequate defense against the charges. This does not imply every single item must be

listed in defail.” (emphasis supplied)

In this case, the grievance allegations advised that from May 24, 2002 and ongoing to the
date of the grievance, management was requiring zll correctional officers to begin work prior to
the start of their shifts and that these employecs were not being paid for compensable pre-shift
and post-shift duties. I find that the grievance was quite specific and did not deprive management
of an opportunity to defend itself,

It should further be noted that the response letters from Warden Holt and Regional
Director Dodrill questioned the specificity of the grievance based upon the assumption that all

issues presented to management over the course of the prior year had been successfully resolved.
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This was not the case. The evidence established that for the most part, virtually all of the

complaints raised by the union with regard to specific portal to portal issues were not addressed,

B. Merits of the Dispute (ISSUE NO. 3)

Activities Officer

Facts

Correctional Officer Shawn Quirk testified that there had been two shifis for the
Activities Officer - 6 am to 2 pm, and 2 pmto 10 pm. (Tr, 1147-1148). The post was or; the
roster through the first quarter of 2005, but has not been on the roster since that time {(tEx “5™").
Officer Quirk stated that he worked the 2 pmto 10 pm {evening watch) shift and would report to
the Control Center 10 to 15 minutes prior to the start of his shift. He said that at the Control
Center he would pick up keys, a radio, a battery and handcuffs (Tr, 1 148-49). He checked his
mailbox and would walk to the lieutenant’s office 1o find out where he was to assigned that day
(Tr, 1149). Officer Quirk testified that he would be posted wherever needed that day, which
could include the chapel if there were chapel services and no chaplain, the recreation yard if
“something big” was going on there, the compound if “they were short”, or even a housing unit if
needed there (Tr, 1150). He said that at the end of his shift he would tumn in the keys, handcuffs
and radio at the Control Center, stopping first at the lieutenant’s office if he had any paperwork
to submit (Tr, 1150). He said he arrived at the Control Center at 10 pm.

Lieutenant Thomas Chmely, testified that the day watch (6 am to 2 pm) Activities Officer
picked up his keys and was supposed to be on post, normally the recreation area at 6 am to do a
search of the area. He said that the recreation area would normally open at 6:15, but might open
later if the Operations Lieutenant had to do something else ( Tr, 2730). The specific post orders

for the day watch required the Activities Officer to check in with the Operations Lieutenant to
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“Recelve any pertinent information or instructions *, but Lt. Chmely stated that “they were
required to check in so we know they’re here or not.” (Tr, 2729-30) He said some of them would
call on the phone or by radio to say they had arrived at work (Tr, 2730-31). The post orders
which permitted correctional officers to check in with the lieutenant by phone were changed in
the second quarter of 2006 (Tr, 2735-36). Lt. Chmely stated this was not a change in procedure,
but rather a clarification of existing practice because “More people would check in by phone or
on the radio” (Tr, 2734, 2737).

Lt. Chmely testified that with regard to the relief of the day watch by the evening watch
(2 pm to 10 pm), he wrote the post orders to require the day watch to go to the Control Center at
10 minutes to 2 pm to meet their relief at that location (Tr, 2731). He said this was not always
possible because on Fridays, for example, there might be a Muslim service going on in the chapel
and the day watch could not leave. He stated the Control Center would then tell the evening
watch where his relief could be found (Tr, 2732-33). Lt. Chmely said that the exchange of

information for most posts (including, presumably, Activities Officer) takes about two minutes.

Position of the Parties

The Agency relies heavily on the testimony of Lt.Chmely and concludes there should be
no recovery for the position of Activities Officer. In addition, counsel for the Agency states that

any recovery must be limited to the evening shift as there was no testimony regarding the

morning shift.

Based vpon the testimony of Officer Quirk, the union presents a claim of 12.5 minutes for

this post (splitting the difference between the 10 and 15 minutes that Officer Ouirk said he

arrived early for his shift).
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Camp Officers

Facts

Correcticnal Officers Scott Chiglinsky and Thomas Margetanski testified for the union
with regard to the position of Camp Officer #1. Officer Chiglinski tstified that the Camp houses
approximately 300 inmates and that a Camp #1 Officer is present for all three shifts, 24 hours a
day (Tr, 1296). He stated that on day watch (8 am to 4 pm) he would report first to the Control
Center about 10 minutes to 8 in order to get a fresh radio battery (Tr, 1298). However, since a
battery charger was installed at the Camp, he need not pick up a battery at the Control Center
anymore (Tr, 1312)( the battery charger was installed at the Camp on July 26, 2007). He would
report to the Camp by 8 am and exchange information about what happened during the night
with the officer he was relieving. He said that in addition he would physically check all keys
there to make sure they were all present and that none were bent or broken, would receive a radio
and hand restraints, and would call the lieutenant on the phone to let him know he was on post
(Tr, 1500, 1311-12). He said he would take the radio from the officer he was relieving and put in
a fresh battery, which he termed “vital” since he might be the only officer at the camp with 300
inmates (Tr, 1299). Officer Chiglinsky testified that the exchange of information and equipment
took 10-15 minutes (Tr, 1259). Officer Chiglinsky testified that the relief on day watch and that
on evening watch takes the same amount of time (T, 1301).

Officer Margetanski’s testimony was of similar impeort, except he testified that the
Camp#1 Officer also needed to account for flashlights, a metal detector and a breathalyzer (T,
1975). He also stated that the evening watch (4 pm to midnight) and moming watch (midnight to

8 am) officers needed to be prepared to begin the 4 pm and 12 am counts of inmates (Tr, 1943,
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1947-48). He testified that he would report to the Control Center to draw batteries about 20
minutes before the beginning of his shift, and that the departing officer was able to Jeave
anywhere ffom 5 minutes before the nominal end of his shift to right at the scheduled end of his
shift (Tr, 1936, 1939).

At the beginning of the third quarter of 2005, the shift start and stop times for Camp
Officer were changed from 10 pm-6 am, 6 am-2 pm, 2 pm-10 pm to midnight-8 am, 8 am-4 pm,
4 pm-midnight. Both Officers Chiglinsky and Margetanski testified that the change had no effect
on the pre or post-shift work performed or the amount of time it took to perform that work (Tr,
1317, 1943).

Officers Chiglinsky and Margetanski both testified that afier management jnstalled a
battery charger at the camp on July 26, 2007, they no longer needed to go to the Control Center
prior to reporting to their posts. Both testified that the exchange of information and equipment
took 10-15 minutes (Tr, 1299, 1938).

Both officers also testified that they had worked the position of Carﬁp#Z Officer, which
was abolished in March, 2005. Officer Chiglinsky stated that he reported to the Control Center at
11:50 pm to exchange his chits for the officer he was relieving and to pick up a freshly charged
battery (Tr, 1303). He said he would drive to the Camp so that he would be on post at midnight.
He stated that at the end of his shift at 8 am, he would drive to the Control Center, arriving there
about 8:05 am (Tr, 1305). He testified that he turned in his equipment and departed the premises
about 8:10 am (Tr, 1306). Officer Margetanski stated that he worked at 10 pm to 6 am watch as
Camp#2 Officer (Tr, 1951). (It should be noted that at the beginning of the second quarter of
2003, the shifts were changed from 4 pm-midnight, midnight-8 am to 2 pm-10 pm, 10 pm-6 am -

see Jt Ex “5") He said he would first stop at the Camp at 9:40 pm to determine whether there was
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a Camp#2 Officer on evening watch (2 pm-10 pm)( Tr, 1951-53). He said a lot of the time that
officer was “pulled” to work elsewhere (Tr, 1951). If a Camp#2 Officer was present, he could
exchange equipment at the Camp. Whether or not the officer was present, he would have to go to
the Control Center to draw a fresh battery. He would also have to pick up vehicle keys if no
Campw2 Officer was present so he could drive to the powerhouse at the institution following the
midnight count of inmates to count the inmates working at that location, and to later transport
inmates to the main institution to work (Tr, 1952-54). Officer Margetanski stated that he left the
institution at 6 am (Tr, 1954-55).

Lt. Chmely testified that he had been in the Camp on occasion during a shift exchange,
and said the exchange took “about as long as it takes to take the radio out and hand it to the other
person and give them the key.” (Tr, 2774-75) In his opinion, “That’s probably cne of the easiest.”
(Tr, 2775) According to Lt. Chmely, prior to the installation of the current battery charger at the
Camp, there had been one with “the old radio system.” (Tr, 2774) He testified that therefore, the
Camp Officers did not need to come down to the main institution for anything at the start of their
shifts(Tr, 2773)

Former Captain Andre Matevousian testified that the exchange between camp officers
lasted “maybe a minute.” (Tr, 2957)

Position of the Parties

The Agency contends that battery chargers were located at the Camp from the beginning
of the grievance period until January, 2005, then again from July, 2007 to the present. Counsel
cites Attachment 13 to her brief for the former and Union Ex. “TT for the latter. The Agency
questions Officer Chiglinsky’s testimony about picking up batteries at the Control Center

because camera footage admitted into evidence as Agency Ex. “32" failed to show any camp
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officers entering the majn institution. Chiglinsky’s testimony is further questioned because he
said he arrived at the Camp at 7:50 am after battery chargers were installed, which was the same
time he said he had arrived at the Control Center to get a fresh battery.

Officer Margetanski’s testimony is also questioned on the basis that he testified his re]iéf
would arrive 10 minutes prior to the hour, a 10-15 minute briefing and exchange of inventory
would occur, and he would depart on the hour or five minutes to the hour (see Tr, 1938-39). The
Agency concludes there should be no recovery for camp officers,

The union argues that Officer Chiglinsky’s total pre and post-shift time spent working as
a Camp#1 Officer is 20-25 minutes, and that Officer Margetanski’s time varies between 15 and
20 minutes. It concludes that the average amount of time spent on shift exchange was 20 minutes
until July 26, 2007. Since that date, a claim is presented for 10-15 minutes, or an average of 13

minutes.

For Camp Officer#2, it is claimed that both Chiglinsky and Margetanski worked 20

minutes pre and post-shift.
Camp Visiting Room
Facts

Two officers were assigned to staff the Camp visiting room, one shift per day, two days
per week until March, 2005. Officer Chiglinsky testified that even when there were two such
officers on the roster, one was frequently reassigned to work elsewhere (Tr, 1283). He stated that
the position is responsible for processing inmate visitors into and out of the Camp visiting room,
and processing inmates into and out of the room. This entails making sure the area is properly set
up for visiting that day which means the room must be searched for contraband such as drugs,

weapons and cell phones (Tr, 1285). He said he arrived at the Control Center at 7:45 am to draw
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all keys and equipment (Tr, 1286-87). He stated he arrived at the Camp about 8 am, signed the
log book, prepared the files and paperwork needed for visiting and searched the visiting areas.
Officer Chiglinsky estimated that the search took 15-20 minutes (Tr, 1287-90). He said he would
finish up those activities by 8:20-8:25, and visiting would commence at 8:30 am (Tr, 1290).

Officer Chiglinsky stated that he would announce at 3 pm that visiting hours were over;
and, that all visitors would have departed by 3:35 pm. He said once the last visitor had left the
parking lot, he searched each inmate, conducted another search of the visiting room, completed
his paperwork, and returned his equipment to the Control Center (Tr, 1290-93). He said the
search of the inmates, which could number 45, could take as long as 20-25 minutes (Tr, 1293).
Officer Chiglinsky testified “it hasn’t been uncommon to leave [the visiting room] at five after
4:00"; and, he said he was at the Control Center turning in his equipment “right before ten after.”
(Tr, 1294)

Lt. Chmely testified that Camp Visiting Officers were expected to be at the Control
Center at 8§ am to pick up their equipment, He said that if the Camp Visiting Officer was not
ready to start visiting at 8:30, visiting would wait; and, he said he knew of instances where camp
visiting was late getting started (Tr, 2798-2800, 2816-1 7). He denied there was anything on a
normal day which would keep a Camp Visiting Officer working past 4 pm; and, he said he had
seen such officers in the lieutenant’s office well before 4 o’clock (T, 2820).

Position of the Parties

Relying largely on the testimony of Lt. Chmely, the Agency contends that the Camp

Visiting post cannot recover under this grievance.

Relying on the testimony of Officer Chiglinsky, the union seeks pay for 25 minutes per

shift.
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Compound Officers

Facts
Officer Eugene Jacobs testified that Compound Officers are responsible for controlling all

inmate movements on the compound ( the open area within the institution which is fenced more

or less in the middle to separate the housing units from the recreation area, the food service area,

the chapel and other areas where the inmates carry on activities. He stated that there can be up to
1,200 inmates on the compound at one time and that they must move through the Compound
officers’ shack where they pass through an X-ray machine, metal detectors and are pat searched
by the Compound officers (T, 653-55). Officer Jacobs stated that the shift times for the post
were 6 am-2pm, 2 pm-10 pm, and 10pm-6 am (791). He testified that he would arrive at the
Control Center about a 5:45 am, check his mailbox for assignment changes (T, 658-62), pick up
a detail crew kit advising which inmates are on a work detail that day (Tr, 663), and pick up a
freshly charged battery - which he described as “your lifeline with your radio.” (T, 658) Officer
Jacobs testified he would arrive at the éo—ca}led shakedown shack (the Compound officers shack
between the housing units and the activity areas) about 10 minutes to the hour on average(Tr,

671-72). At the shack he must make sure the X-ray machine and metal detector are working, and

must inventory handcuffs, leg irons, handheld metal detectors and a breathalyzer (Tr, 673). Vests

wom by inmeates who are on the compound working are also inventoried (Tr, 673). In addition,
information is exchanged with the officer to be relieved. Officer Jacobs testified that the relief
process at the shakedown shack took 9-10 minutes on average(Tr, 674). The officer being
relieved would turn in his battery at the Control Center unless he needed to file paperwork at the

Lt’s office (Tr, 676). He testified that the relieved officer would Jeave the institution between §

and 7 minutes after the hour(Tr, 677).
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Officer David Seresky stated he arrived at the Control Center a half hour before his shift
was to commence (he worked the 2 pm to 10 pm shift), checked his mailbox for shift changes
and grabbed a fresh battery. He then proceeded to the compound where the exchange of
information and equipment would take about 10 minutes. He stated he would be at the
shakedown shack between 1:40 and 1:45 and that the person he was relieving would leave the
compound 10-15 minutes after he got there (Tr, 2029-34). His relief would arrive at about 9:40
pm, he left the compound about 9:55 pm, and took 3-4 minutes to get to the Control Center to
drop off the battery (Tr, 2035).

Officer Jacobs testified about an anomaly in the scheduling of Compound officers.
During the second quarter of 2007, the Compound officers were directed to make their reliefs at
the Control Center rather than on the compound. Officer Jacobs testified that he would come in
five minutes before the shift during this period and “leave a little bit earlier” (Tr, 687). He said
the officers would attempt to comply but couldn’t always because other duties would prevent a
Compound officer from leaving for the Control Center 10 minutes before the end of his shift (Tr,
686). Officer Jacobs testified that the policy was rescinded after one quarter because Warden
Sniezik “wanted [the officers] on the compound” and not “hanging out at the administrative
building.”(Tr, 685)

Former Captain Matevousian described the relief of Compound officers as being “very
simple” and said it merely consisted of “Handing the keys and radio over”, which took “Maybe a
minute.”(Tr, 2967)

Lt. Chmely testified that he had worked Compound and that the relief only took “A

couple of minutes.” (Tr, 2757) He said it didn’t teke very long to count keys and hand over a

radio (Tr, 2758).
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In addition to the testimony about this post, there was video evidence presented by the

Agency (AgEx “32™) which is discussed infra

Positions of the Parties

The Agency argues that Officer Jacobs acknowledged, on cross examination, that the
typical shift exchange tock only a couple of seconds or minutes (citing Tr, 674, 737). Counsel
states that it strains credulity to think that Jacobs would arrive only 5 minutes before his shift
during the second quarter of 2007 when he had previously testified that the average shift
exchange took an average of 10 minutes. It is further argued that Seresky’s numbers do not make
sense because if his relief arrived at 9:40 pm and the exchange took 10 minutes, he would be at
the Control Center earlier than 9:55 pm. Finally, Counse] states that the video footage in Agency
Ex. “32" indicated (1) eight people worked less than 8 hours on the Compound posts, (2) another

15 worked less than 8 hours and 10 minutes which would be de minimis, and (3) the time

between one officer coming on and the person being relieved departing was typically 5-9

minutes,

The union contends that Jacobs’ average time spent on the shift exchange was 23.5
minutes while Seresky’s was 26 minutes. The claim is for 26 minutes pre and post-shift time
worked. As for the second quarter of 2007, the union’s claim is for 11.5 minutes. The claims are
based on the testimony of Officers Jacobs and Seresky.

Control Center

Facts

All persons entering the secure area of FCI Schuylkill must pass through the Control
Center (with the exception of limited traffic allowed through the rear gate). The officers who

work there are responsible for monitoring and sending assistance to any alarms or emergencies in
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the prison, tracking the movement of employees® body alarms, monitoring radio communications
on approximately 7 channels, and handling and maintaining the counts of the inmates in the
institution. The officers in the Control Center are also responsible for maintaining and passing
out equipment to each of the over 300 employees who work at the prison; and, for opening
numerous doors once they have visually confirmed by camera that a staff member, and not an
inmate, is waiting to be Jet through. Equipment kept there includes keys, radios, body alarms,
8as, gas guns, leg irons and soft restraints (see testimony of Officer Petch, Tr, 828-30).

The Control Center is staffed 24 hours per day by the Control#1 Officer, and during the
day and evening watch shifts by the Control#2 Officer (JtEx “5"). The shifts for Control#1 are 8
am-4 pm, 4 pm-midnight, and midnight-8 am. The shifts for Control #2 had been 6 am-2 pm and
2 pm-10 pm until the third quarter of 2007, when they were changed to 5:45 am-1:45 pm and
1:45 pm-9:45 pm.(JtEx “5™).

Officer Keith Petch testified that when working Control#1, he would arrive at the Control
Center 15-20 minutes before the beginning of his shift and would leave 5-7 minutes after the end
of his shift (Tr, 832-33, 867). Officer David Seresky testified that when he was working
Control#1 he would arrive at the Control Center 30 minutes before the start of his shift and the
officer he was relieving would depart “12 to 15 minutes after” (Tr, 2036, 2041). He stated it took
“a good 25 minutes for shift to change in the Control Center . . . Sometimes longer.” (Tr, 2041)
Officer Seresky further testified that when he was working the morning watch, his relief would
arrive by 7:30 and he would be leaving at 7:55 or 8 am (Tr, 2042-43, 2163).

Both officers testified that they had to account for all equipment listed on the inventory
sheet. Approximately 1800 keys were kept in the Control Center, as well as the equipment

previously listed. (see Tr, 833, 846-47, 849, 907) Seresky testified that “. . . there’s pretty much
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equipment everywhere in there.” (Tr, 2159) The officers testified that they had to make sure that
all equipment which was not there was replaced by a chit indicating who had possession of the
equipment (Tr, 835, 846, 2139). Officer Seresky said the inventory sheet for the equipment
amounted to roughly 6 pages (Tr, 2159-60).

In addition, the officers testified that they had to compare counts of inmates to make sure
all inmates were in the institution. They are also responsible for opening doors and passing out
equipment to arriving employees, and receiving equipment from employees departing the
institution. The oncoming evening and morning watch officers need to begin their 4 pm and
midnight counts at those times (Tr, 868, 870, 2038). Officer Seresky testified that Lt. Poling was
present in the Control Center 95% of the time for the midnight count, and that Lt. Breckon was
usually present for the 4 pm count when he worked that shift; and, that regardless of who was on
duty a lieutenant was present for the 4 pm count approximately 50% of the time (Tr, 2041-42,
2045-46).

Officer Seresky testified that the Control#2 Officer assists the Control#1 Officer and is
primarily responsible for passing out and receiving equipment and tracking the movement of
employees who carry body alarms (Tr, 2057). He stated that as Control#2 he would arrive at 5:30
am in order to take some of the pressure off the Control#1 Officer (Tr, 2054-55). He said the
starting time has been changed to 5:45 to help the Control #1 Officer (Tr, 2056). Officer Seresky
testified he left at 1:50-1:55 pm (Tr, 2058), but not until 2 pm if the evening watch Control#2
Cfficer was pulled off the post (Tr, 2059). He further testified that 90% of the time, the Activities
Lieutenant was in line by 5:45 am and observed him performing work in the Control Center prior

to the start of his shift (Tr, 2175).

Officer Seresky stated that when he worked evening watch, he would arrive at 1:30 pm
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and would leave at 10 pm (Tr, 2062-63).

Former Captain Matevousian testified that he observed that evening watch relief in the
Control Center on numerous occasions. He stated: “they would just come in, briefly ask the
officer what had happened. Their major concern was that the count was ready and all the
numbers were correct on the count sheet, Afier the count is completed, that’s when the officer
would initiated (sic) his or her inventory . . .” (Tr, 2951) He said it was not feasible to do the
count and an inventory while both the day watch and evening watch officers were standing there
(Tr, 2952). He said that on numerous occasions he would receive a cal] at 6,6:30 or 7 pm from a
Control Center officer reporting that equipment was missing (Tr, 2952). He testified that the
exchange of information and equipment took “About three minutes maybe.” (Tr, 2951)

Captain Brent Taggart testified that the relief of 2 Control#1 Officer took 1-2 minutes;
and, that Control#2 took about 5 seconds (Tr, 2607-08).

Lt. Chmely testified that during the relief process, Control Center officers were not
accounting for all of the equipment, but were primarily interested in making sure the count was
correct (Tr, 3120-21). He said the exchange took about § minutes; and that Control#2 took about
2 minutes (Tr, 3136, 3155),

There was also camera footage admitted into evidence for the Control Center officers.
This is discussed infra.

Positions of the Parties

The Agency contends that Officer Seresky’s times do not add up in that he testified it
takes 25 minutes to do a shift relief, that he arrived 30 minutes early, and yet testified that the
person he was relieving would depart 12-15 minutes after the hour. The Agency further points to

the video footage as showing that the times for Control#1 range from & hours, 7 minutes to 8
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hours, 28 minutes. Counsel states that with the exception of Officer Witkowski, who appears to
overlap for extended time periods, the time between the oncoming entering the building and the
outgoing exiting, is about 7 to 10 minutes. Counsel further states that for Control#2 , all except

one worked less than 8 hours 10 minutes. The Agency concludes that the Control posts should

not recover,

The union, relying on the testimony of Officers Petch and Seresky, states that Petch’s
average pre and post-shift working time was 23.5 minutes, while Seresky’s was 27.5 minutes. It
contends that Control#1 officers should be paid for 25.5 minutes. Relying on the testimony of
Officer Seresky, the union argues that Control#2 worked 30 minutes on the day watch up until
the change in the second quarter of 2007, and 15 minutes since. It further contends that the

evening watch officer for Control#2 worked 30 minutes pre and post-shift.

Count Officer

Facts

At the beginning of the second quarter of 2005, a Count Officer post was created to assist
with the counting of inmates on the morning watch. With the exception of the second quarter of
2005, when the shift was 10 pm-6 am, the hours for this post have always been midnight to 8 am.

Officer Ray Archer testified that he reported for duty at the Control Center at 11:40-11:45 pm

(Tr, 1672). He picked up his keys and radio and called the lieutenant at 11:50 to find out whether

he would be counting inside the institution first or if there was enough staff for that night. At
times he would be directed 1o g0 to the Camp to help the Camp Officer do his count (Tr, 1673-
74). Officer Archer testified the count began both in the Housing Units and at the Camp at

midnight, “on the dot” most of the time (Tr, 1730). He stated that the post orders directed him to

report to the Control Center at 7:50 am 1o turn in his keys and equipment (Tr, 1682). He said he
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left at 8 am.
Lt Chmely stated that the Count officer was needed for midnight in the Housing Units
“when the B side officers have already departed.” (Tr, 3247)

Video footage will be discussed infra.

Positions of the Parties

The Agency states that the camera footage showed one Count Officer present for only 7
hours 47 minutes, while another was present for 8 hours 19 minutes. Counsel notes that the
footage showed the Count officer leaving every day prior to the end of his shift,

The union argues that the Count Officer should be paid for 17.5 minutes (the difference
between the 15 and 20 minutes that Officer Archer claimed he came in early).

Front Lobby

Facts

Officer Joseph Bickelman testified that when working the Front Lobby post he would
report to the Control Center approximately 15-20 minutes prior to the shift starting time (Tr,
1543). The hours of the one shift per day were 6 am-2 pm. Officer Bickelman stated that the
Front Lobby Officer was responsible for processing all packages and visitors, including inmate
visiters, contractors and Jaw enforcement officials, passing through the lobby into the institution.
At the Control Center Officer Bickelman drew a radio, keys, a box of contractor and volunteer
badges, a stamp pad and stamp (for visitors), and a roster for incoming phone calls about inmates
(Tr, 1543-44). He said he walked to the front lobby, which took 1-2 minutes, got out 2 sets of
telephones and 2 log books, calibrated an ION machine (a drug detecting machine), and made

sure the metal detector and X-ray machine were functioning (Tr, 1546, 1550). He stated that by
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the time he unlocked the doors there would already be contract employees, such as lab techs and
pharmacy techs, waiting to be processed into the institution (Tr, 1554-55). He acknowledged that
1f he had not completed the above-described duties, people had no choice but to wait a little bit
for entry (Tr, 1554). Officer Bickelman testified that he did not have to go back to the Control
Center at the end of his shift (Tr, 1558-59). The Tobby was normally kept open until 4 pm and
someone would come to relieve him at 1:50-1:55 (Tr, 1556,-57). He testified that he generally
left his post at 2:05-2:10 (T, 1559).

Lt. Chmely testified that there was no need for the Front Lobby Officer to arrive early
because visitors cannot enter until that officer is ready to let them in (Tr, 3180). He said
equipment testing in the front lobby could occur at 6:15 am, which would allow over two hours
before inmate visiting began (Tr, 3191).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency points to the video footage as evidence that the Front Lobby officers rarely
put in 8 hours, and when they did, it was only by a minute or two, which would be covered by
their walk from the Front Lobby to the Control Center at the beginning of their shift.

Based on the testimony of Officer Bickelman, the union claims 25 minutes since the
second quarter of 2005. Prior to that time it seeks 17.5 minutes, since prior to that time there was
a Reception post which also covered the front lobby from 8 am to 4:30 pm. It concludes that
since the Front Lobby Officer did not previously have to wait for relief to arrive at the end of his

shift, the claim is for the average time between 15 and 20 minutes pre-shift work.

Housing Units

Facts

There are 4 housing units at FCI Schuylkill, each with an A-side and B-side. At the
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beginning of the grievance period, both sides were manned 24 hours a day (10 pm-6 am, 6 am-2
pm, and 2 pm-10 pm). Beginning with the second quarter of 2005, the B-side no longer had a
morning watch (10 pm-6 am), so one officer was respensible for both the A-side and B-side of
that building during that watch. In the third quarter of 2005, B-side still had no maorning watch
and the start and stop times changed for the shifts. A-side was 8 am-4pm, 4 pm-midnight,
midnight-8 am; and, B-side was 8 am-4 pm and 4 pm-midnight. In the third quarter of 2006, B-
side stayed the same while A-side went 10 10 pm-6 am, 6 am-2 pm, 2 pm-10 plﬁ (JtEx “5").
Officers Scott Chiglinsky and Doug McIllwain both testified that they began work prior
to the start of their shifts when working this post. Both testified that they report for duty at the
Control Center to pick up freshly charged batterjes, sign the safety and security sheet, and turn
their chits on the accountability board.(the board has chits with numbers assigned to each officer
- the chits are red on one side and white on the other - officers would turn the chits to the red side
if in the institution, and would turn them back to white when absent from the prison) (Tr, 1330-
32, 1839). D‘uring day watch shifts, Chiglinsky would check to see if a detail pouch was there for
him to pick up (Tr, 1330). Both officers testified they would then go to the Lieutenant’s Office 1o
check in, receive pertinent information, and would then proceed to their post (Tr, 1330, 1840).
Officer Chiglinsky stated that he arrived at the Control Center approximately 10-15
minutes before the beginning of his shift, (Tr, 1330) Officer Mclllwain stated that he arrived at
the Control Center about 15 minutes before the start of his shift (Tr, 1839). The two officers
testified they would exchange information and equipment, including radio, body alarm, keys and
hand restraints. Additionally, they would account for equipment keptin cages secured to the wall
in the unit officer’s office such as four extension cords, a scraper, a telescoping mirror, a mallet

for conducting bar taps, a radio pouch holder, a metal detector, a flashlight, leg restraints, leg
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irons, and safety glasses (Tr, 1332-33, 1840-41). They would sign off on the equipment inventory
sheet because if any of the equipment was missing or broken, disciplinary action could be
brought against the officer (Tr, 1334). The officers then had to call the Control Center and test
their body alarms with Control to make sure they were working (Tr, 1334).

Officer Chiglinsky testified that he would be on his post in the Housing Unit on the hour
(6 am in his case) and that the exchange would take 5-10 minutes (Tr, 1331,1335). He said he
would leave the Housing Unit at 2:05-2:10 pm depending upon how much information needed to
be passed to his relief (Tr, 1336). He stopped at the Lieutenant’s Office if any paperwork needed
to be dropped off, but generally proceeded to the Contro] Center where, he dropped off his battery
and detail pouch; and, he left the Control Center about 2:10-2:15 pm (T, 1336-40). Officer
McIllwain testified when working a 2 pm to 10 pm shift, he left the Control Center a little bit
after 10 pm, “five after . . . at the most.” (Tr, 1850)

The foregoing testimony pertained 1o the period from the beginning of the recovery
period claimed in the grievance until the end of the first quarter, 2005. Officer Chiglinsky
testified that the amount of pre and post-shift time worked would have been the same for the
morning watch as well (Tr, 1366-67). He stated that the removal of the B-side watch officer from
the morning watch at the beginning of the second quarter 2005 had no effect on the amount of
pre and post-shift work for the A-side post (Tr, 1384).

From the second quarter of 2005 until the shifts changed again in the second quarter of
2006, there was a great deal of confusion by the witnesses who tended to testify about shifts that
were not in existence during that period (Tr, 1385 (Chiglinsky testified about a 6 am to 2 pm B-
side watch when, in fact, the B-side day watch was from 8 am to 4 pm from the third quarter of

2005 to the present time), 1955 (McIllwain was correct that the B-side evening watch shift was 2
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-pm to 10 pm during the second quarter of 2005, but the evening watch changed to 4-midnight in
the very next quarter). Officer Seresky did testify about working the midnight to 8 am mormning
watch during that period - which must have been an A-side watch (Tr, 2012-13). He testified that
he arrived at Control 30 minutes before the start of his shift where he picked up a battery, signéd
the safety security sheet, checked his mailbox, and made sure there were no shift changes. He
then went to the front lobby to pick up his “wake-ups”, which were inmates who must be,
awakened at 4 am so they can work in food service (Tr, 2013-14). He testified that he arrived at
the Housing Unit about 11:45 pm and exchanged with both the A and B-side officers which took
10-15 minutes (Tr, 2015-16). At the end of his shift, his reliefs would arrive about 20 minutes
carly (Tr, 2017). If both reliefs arrived simultaneously, he would be able to leave the Housing
Unit between 7:50 and 7:55 am. (Tr, 2020). Officer McIllwain testified that during this period
there was no substantial change in the hours worked (Tr, 1851-54).

From the third quarter of 2006 throu gh the present memories were far fresher. Officer
Chiglinsky testified that because there was not a B-side officer on mornring watch, the A-side
morning watch officer must brief his A-side day shift relief on what was taking place on the B-
side as well, and the A-side day watch officer must account for equipment on both sides of a unit
(Tr, 1372-75). He stated the relief tock 5-10 minutes longer for the A-side officer (Tr, 1376).

With regard to the A-side evening and morning watches, Officer McIllwain stated that he
arrived at the Control Center at 1:45 pm, and at the Housing Unit at 1:50-1:55. He said his relief
arrived at 9:50-9:55 pm and he was finished in Control at 10-10:05 pm (Tr, 1876-78). Officer
Seresky testified that he arrived at Control a half hour before his shift for the morning watch and

left the Control Center right around 6 am (Tr, 2021, 2026).

As for the B-side watches, Officers Chiglinsky and Mclllwain testified that their pre and



post-shift work amounted to 20 and 15 minutes respectively (Tr, 1377-1380, 1870-73).
Captain Taggert testified that he observed the shift exchange in the Housing Units and

that it tock a minute (Tr, 2605-06). Likewise, former Captain Matevousian said it took 1-2

minutes (T, 2944). Lt Chmely also testified that the exchange took “a couple of minutes.” (Tr,

3314)

Camera footage with regard to these posts will be discussed infra.
Positions of the Parties

The Agency attacks the credibility and recollections of the union’s witnesses. In addition,
the Agency points out that the camera footage shows numerous individuals whose time door to
door is less than 8 hours. It notes that there “is also [a] large number whose time door 1o door is
less than § hours 10 minutes.” (AgBr, 59) it concludes that:”As such, . .. it would be
administratively impossible to keep track of all the individual times.” (AgBr, 59)

The union, relying on the testimony of its witnesses, cantends as follows:
(1) All officers working from the beginning of the recovery period until the end of 1¢ quarter

2005 should be credited with 22.5 minutes per shift.

(2) For the period from the 2" quarter 2005 through the 2™ quarter 2006, A-side officers should
be credited with 22.5 minutes and B-side officers should receive 19 minutes per shift.

(3) From the 3" quarter 2006 through the present A-side day watch should receive 32.5 minutes,
A-side evening and morning watch should receive 25 minutes, and B-side officers should be
credited with 17.5 minutes per shift.

Outside Perimeter

Facts

The Outside Perimeter (hereinafter “OP”) post consists of trucks that drive around the




perimeter of the institution on the road that goes around the whole institution (Tr, 1111). Officer
Quirk testified that it is the Jast line of defense in case of an escape, and it is an armed post (Tr,
1111). Through the end of the second quarter of 2003 there were 3 separate posts, and since then
there have been two (JtEx “5™). Officer Quirk stated that there are no differences between the OP
posts (OP-1 and OP-2 currently) which affect the pre and post-shift work that must be performed
(Tr, 1132).

Officer Quirk testified that he reported to the Control Center approximately 15 minutes
before the scheduled start of his shift, got his battery, checked his mailbox, and either called or
went to see the lieutenant depending on what he was instructed by the Control Center (T¥, 1114).
He said he checked his mailbox for roster changes - for example, if an inmate was in the hospital
(off the premises) cne could be sent to the hospital to work a shift there rather than his regular
post (Tr, 1115). If he did not show up on the expected post, he would be marked AWOL (Tr,
1116). Assuming he was, in fact, working the OP shift, Control would call the person he was
relieving, who would drive the OP truck 1o the front of the institution to pick him up (Tr, 1118-
19). He said he was picked up about five minutes prior to the scheduled start time of his shift, but
if the OP truck was checking a prblem, e.g. a zone alarm, it might be late (Tr, 1119). He noted
that one of the two OP trucks must stay mobi]é at all times, so if the other truck was in the
process of relief, he would have to wait unti] that was completed (Tr, 1119-20).

Once he was picked up by the OP truck, Officer Quirk weuld proceed to what is known
as the clearing barrel in order to inventory ammunition. The OP officers carry a 9 mm handgun
with three magazines, each holding 15 rounds. They also carry an M-16 rifle, also with three
magazines, each holding 25 rounds (see Tr, 1122-23, 1133). Officer Quirk testified that QP

officers must manually unload each round out of the magazines one by one, and reload them one
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by one (Tr, 1124). In addition, all ammunition must be removed from a shotgun carried on the
OP trucks (1192). Officer Quirk stated that other equipment - binoculars, handcuffs, a helmet and
spotlight, must be inventoried; and, the vehicle must be inspected for any damage (Tr, 1121).
After all equipment is exchanged, the OP officer drives the officer he has relieved to the front
lobby and drops him off (Tr, 1125). At that point the OP officer would begin to patrol the road
around the perimeter. Officer Quirk testified that from the time he was picked up by the OP truck
until he dropped off the outgoing shift, approximately 15 minutes would elapse (Tr, 1126). He
added that cn average, he was dropped off 15-20 minutes past the end of his shift. Officer Quirk
further testified that the relieving officers who arrive last at the front of the institution must wait
for the other OP officers to complete their exchange of equipment and information before they
can drive to the clearing barrel to begin (Tr, 1140-41). When he was not the first officer to arrive
he did not finish the shift exchange process until about 25 minutes after the end of his shift (Tr,
1276).

Officer Quirk testified that during the period of time that OP-3 was used, management
often vacated the post so that the OP-3 equipment was kept by either the OP-1 or OP-2 post. The
oncoming officer would therefore have to inventory twice as much equipment which doubled the
amount of time spent at the clearing barrel (Tr, 1127-28).

At the beginning of the first quarter of 2007, the OP shift start and stop times were
staggered so that both OP trucks do not perform shift exchange at the same time. One OP post is
ona 10 pm-6 am, 6 am-2 pm, and 2 pm-10 pm schedule while the other is 9:45 pm-5:45 am, 5:45
am-1:45 pm, and 1:45pm-%:45 pm. (JtEx “5") According to Cfficer Quirk, staggering the shifts
has eliminated the need for one truck to remain mobile and wait for the other truck to complete

its shift exchange before it can begin its own shift exchange (Tr, 1124). He said, however, that
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while the wait for the other truck to finish is no longer a factor, “You're still having to do all that
same stuff.” (Tr, 1192) He said that whereas before the staggered shifts he would leave his post
upwards of 25 minutes after his shift ended, he would now leave approximately 15 minutes later
(Tr, 1276).

Former Captain Matevousian testified that once the actual relief process started, it would
take 3-5 minutes at the most (Tr, 2955). He acknowledged that the total process depended on
“how long it took for the officer and the OP truck to come around front and pick up the other
officer, what clearing barre] they went to, whether both the OP trucks came at the same time.”
(Tr, 2955)

Captain Taggart testified that OP relief took 2-3 minutes “because you’re counting

ammunition.” (Tr, 2607)

Lt. Chmely testified that the OP officers needed to account for their ammunition and
other equipment during the course of their shift and that they had a reasonable amount of time so
to do (Tr, 3231). He distinguished between “Mzking sure the weapon is safe so you can pass it to
the other person” and “accounting for all your ammunition.” (Tr, 3231) In describing Capt.
Bebow’s 15 minute period for staggering shifts, he testified: “the reasonable amount of time is
normally perceived to be approximately 15 minutes in order to accomplish the accounting for all
the ammunition,” (Tr, 3232) Lt. Chmely testified, however, that the shifts were staggered to
enhance security because prior to the change both trucks had pulled up to the lobby at the same
time; and, one should always be mobile (Tr, 3236-37).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency argues that Officer Quirk’s testimony about when he arrived at the Control

Center should not be deemed credible because in the video footage, OP officers were seen
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entering the institution on only one day out of five, and on that day they entered 5 minutes before
the start of their shift. Counsel questions Quirk’s time calculations stating that if it took 15
minutes from pick up to drop off at the lobby, “the person being relieved would be dropped off
anywhere from 10 to 15 minutes afier the end of their shift” (AgBr 60), and yet Quirk testified
that he would typically be dropped off 15-20 minutes after the end of his shift. Counsel states
that he later expanded it to 25 minutes. Counsel further states Quirk’s testimony was significantly
undermined by a union witneés, Joseph Evans, who testified that Quirk was known for coming in
right at the start of his shift (AgBr 61).

The union claims the evidence established that OP officers worked 30 minutes pre and
post-shift, and 40 minutes up until the first quarter of 2007 if the officer was the second officer to
arrive to perform relief (and thereby had to wait until the first to arrive had completed counting
ammunition,

Rear Gate

Facts

The Rear Gate post operates 8 hours per day, 5 days a week during day watch (JtEx *5").
The rear gate of the institution is used to allow vehicular traffic, e.g. for the delivery of food (T,
1616), and the pick-up of garbage; and, some pedestrian traffic, e.g. contracters (Tr, 1616) in and
out of the institution. Officer Joseph Evans testified that when working the post he reported to
the Lieutenant’s Office about 7:45 am (the shift begins at 8 am). He said he then went to the
Control Center where he picked up a radio, keys, handcuffs, gate passes and a hand stamp (Tr,
1617). He proceeded to the front lobby where he called for the OP vehicle to drive him around to
the rear gate (Tr, 1618). Officer Evans said he generally arrived at the rear gate between 7:55 and

8 am (Tr, 1618). At the rear gate Officer Evans opened the crash barriers along the gate, opened
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the office, started the log book, and accounted for some equipment stored at the rear gate such as
a metal detector, tools, and padlocks (Tr, 1618-19).

Officer Evans testified that there was usually a vehicle or a pedestrian waiting to go
through when he arrived. He recalled a few instances where lieutenants made it clear to him that
they expected the rear gate to be open by 8 am. On one occasion, he was in the office with Lt.
Gates, it was about 7:55, and someone was calling about getting through the rear gate. Lt. Gates
told him; *This is why I need you guys to be on post by eight o’clock.” (Tr, 1621, 1624-25) He
testified that on the few occasions he did not have the rear gate open by 8 am, the people seeking
access complained to the lieutenants who would contact him (Tr, 1620-21). Officer Evans stated
that he lefi the institution at 4 pm (Tr, 1624).

Lt. Chmely testified that the Rear Gate Officer needed only to be in Control at 8 am. He
said if a vehicle came up before 8 am, and “if it really needed to be there, we would open [the
gate].” (Tr, 3269-70) He said OP would let Control know there was a vehicle there, and Control
would decide whether someone should be sent to open the rear gate. Lt. Chmely said there was
no reason for the Rear Gate Officer to come in prior to 8 am “because the traffic doesn’t go until
vou get there.” (Tr, 3271) He stated that vehicle traffic stopped long before the officer finished

his shift so the officer “had a ton of time.” (T, 3271)

Positions of the Parties

The Agency relies on Lt. Chmely’s testimony as well as video footage which is said to
show that the times worked range from 8 hours 2 minutes to 8 hours 19 minutes. Counsel states

that all of the times except the one are § hours 10 minutes or Jess.

Based on Officer Evans’ testimony, the union claims 15 minutes pre-shift work for this

post.
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Reception
Fa cté

Until March, 2005 one officer was assigned to the Reception post in the front lobby, one
shift, five days a week (JiEx “5 "). Officer Matthew Munson testified that he would initially
report to the Control Center at 7:45 am and would check out a radio. He said he would go to the
front lobby, arriving there at 7:55. He said he would begin his duties which consisted of
processing visitors, answering phone calls, and transferring phone calls to the appropriate
destination(Tr, 2269-70). When he arrived at his post, the front lobby was already open and
manned by the Front Lobby Officer (Tr, 2297). He was asked, on cross examination, whether he
could have come in later than 7:45 and still been on post at 8§ am. He respoended: ““I don’t know.”
(Tr, 2256)

Officer Munson stated that at 4:30, when his shift ended, he locked the front door, the
telephone, the computer, and the cabinets. He then dropped off his keys, radio and a box of
badges that were issued to contractors and other visitors throughout the day, at the Control
Center (Tr, 2271-72). He testified that he dropped this equipment off at 4:35-4:40 prm (Tr, 2272).

Lt. Chmely testified that there was no reason for the Reception Officer to arrive priorto 8
am, and by 4:30 pm he should have turned everything into the Control Center (Tr, 3278).
Positions of the Parties

The Agency states that as this post is similar in its requirements to those of the Front
Lobby Officer, which rarely works 8 hours, the post should not recover.

The union claims 22.5 minutes based on Officer Munson’s testimony of 15 minutes pre-

shift work and the average between 5 and 10 minutes post-shift work.
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Recreation Officer

Facts

This position was only in effect until the end of the first quarter of 2003 (JtEx *“5"). There
was one shift per day, from 6 am to 2 pm, five days per week. Officer James Shaup said he
arrived at the Control Center at 5:40-5:45 am, where he would get his radio, handcuffs, keys,
crew kit and whatever he needed to get recreation up and running (Tr, 2226, 2240). He said he
proceeded 1o the recreation area where he would have to conduct a thorough search of the entire
area - the whole gymnasium, the bathrooms, beneath the bleachers, two rooms where the inmates
worked with ceramics, a pool table area, and music rooms - 1o make sure no contraband such as
knives, “hooch”, or drugs had been left there the day before. He would then have to check the
handball courts, the weight room, the “sweat lodge”, the track and the fence (he would have to
walk the whole fence line around the outdoor recreation area) before any part of the area could be
opened up for inmates (Tr, 2227). He described the recreaticn area as “a couple of football fields
big (Tr, 2225). Officer Shaup testified that the recreation area was supposed to be open by 6 am,
the same time “mainline” (the breakfast line) opened, and if it was not open, “The inmates would
be out there hooting and hollering and cursing” and threatening to go to officers above him to
complain recreation wasn’t open on time (Tr, 2228). Officer Shaup recalled that the lieutenants
wanted the recreation area opened by 6 am “Because they would tell you, ‘Get it done. Get
whatever you have to do to get that open when they call mainline.”(Tr, 2229) He testified that
management knew he was coming in early because there was no other way 1o have the recreation
area ready to go by 6 am (Tr, 2232-34).

Officer Shaup testified that he left the recreation area at 2 pm, explaining that his post

was from 6:00 to 2:00 (Tr, 2231). He turned in his equipment at Control and was off duty at
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2:05-2:06 pm. (Tr, 2231 -32) On cross examination, Officer Shaup testified that the post was
“typically pulled” so he would actually go and work someplace else if relieved by the lieutenant
(Tr, 2242).

Lt. Chmely tesiified that there was nothing zbout the Recreation Officer’s duties which
would require him on a normal basis to stay beyond 8 hours (T, 3339).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency relies on Lt. Chmely’s testimony for the proposition that no recovery should
be had by the Recreation Officer.

The union claims 23 minutes, apparently based on 15-20 minutes pre-shift work (17.5
minutes average) and 5-6 minutes post-shift work (5.5 minutes average).
Reservation Patrol

Facts

The Reservation Patrol post was in existence only through the first quarter of 2003
according to the union. Management states that it was removed from the roster in 2005.1 have
been unable to confirm the date on which it was abolished from the rosters (MEx “5") In any
event, one officer was assigned on inmate visiting days (Saturdays and Sundays) and was
respensible for monitering Camp inmates who could walk away from the Camp (there is no
fence around the Camp), and looking out for contraband which could be dropped off for camp
inmates (Tr, 1143). Officer Shawn Quirk testified that he would report at the Control Center 15
minutes before his shift starting time (Tr, 1135). He said the pre-shift procedures were the same
as for OP-1 (Tr, 1135). A Reservation Patrol or OP truck would pick him up and take him to the
clearing barrel where he would account for 45 rounds for a 9mm hand gun, inventory his

equipment, and inspect the vehicle (Tr, 1136-37). There was no evidence of post-shift work. On
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cross examination, Officer Quirk said he could not be sure if he worked this post during the
period of the grievance (Tr, 1200).

Lt. Chmely testified there was no reason for the Reservation Patrol Officer to come in
before the shift started at § am because visiting did not commence until 8:30 am (Tr, 3244).
Positions of the Parties

Counsel argues that the testimony of Officer Quirk should be disregarded because there
was no testimony that he worked the post from June 2002 to the present. Counsel further relies
on the testimony of Lt Chmely.

The union seeks 15 minutes pre-shift pay for each shift worked.
Special Housing Unit

Facts

The Special Housing Unit (“SHU™) is occupied by inmates who are serving disciplinary
confinement, are in protective custody or are awaiting transfer to another institution (Tr, 990). It
is staffed 24 hours a day, 7 days a week by the SHU #1 Officer. In addition, officers are assigned
to work the SHU #2, #3 and #4 posts 16 hours per day, 5 days per week The SHU #3 and #4
posts have had shifts of 6 am-2pm and 2 pm-10pm throughout the recovery period. The SHU #2
shifts were 8 am-4 pm and 4 pm-midnight from June 2002 until the end of the first quarter 2003,
From the second quarter 2003 until the present, the shifts have been 6 am-2 pm and 2 pm-10pm.
(MtEx “5") In addition, there is a post called SHU Recreation/Property which works 8 hours per
day, 5 days per week during day watch (JtEx “5").

Officer Robert Gottshall, Jr. testified that when working SHU #1 he would report for duty
at the Control Center at 5:45 am, 15 minutes before his shift starting time (Tr, 997). He said he

picked up a freshly charged battery and a detail pouch which listed those inmates in segregation
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("SHU?” and “segregation” are used interchangeably by the officers) (Tr, 997-98). He checked in
at the lieutenant’s office and walked over to SHU, arriving there at 5:55 (998-99). To gain access
to the SHU, an officer inside that unit had to verify him to Control which opened the first of two
sally port doors electronically; and, then the SHU #1 Officer he was relieving opened a second
sally port door using a key (Tr, 999, 1023). Officer Gottshall stated that after being let in, he
would put a fresh battery in his body alarm, turn it on, and proceed to exchange equipment. That
equipment consisted of two sets of keys, and four shadow boards containing cords, handeuffs,
Martin chains, a knife, screwdrivers, a bar tap, a hammer, a mirror, a strip machine, a recorder and
a camera (Tr, 999-1000). He further testified that information about the inmates had to be
exchanged, and that it took 5-10 minutes depending on what had been going on (Tr, 1001).

Officer Gottshall stated that the same procedure tock place at the end of his shift, and that
he would return the used battery and the detail pouch to the Control Center at 2:00-2:05 pm (Tr,
1002-03). He testified that at some point the post orders were changed so that he no longer had to
check in at the lleutenant’s office. He said this made 2 five minute difference, so he arrived at the
Control Center at 5:50 instead of 5:45 (Tr, 1006-07). Officer Gottshall testified that the only
difference between the three shifts was that the day watch officer picked up a detail pouch (Tr,
1008-09).

With regard to the SHU #2, #3,and #4 posts, Officer Gottshall testified that there was no
difference between their duties at the beginning of their shifts (Tr, 1018-19). He said that when
working SHU #2 he reported for duty at 5:45 am (for a 6 am shift) (Tr, 1011). He said he arrived
at the SHU at 5:55 after picking up keys and a radio at the Control Center. The procedures to gain
access to the SHU were the same as those described for the SHU #1 Officer. Officer Gottshall

said his relief on the day shift arrived about 1:55 to 2:00 pm, and he left the Control Center at
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Visiting Room
Facts

Three officers (#1, #2, and #3) are theoretically assigned to staff the visiting room for the
institution from 8 am until 4 pm, five days per week (JtEx “5™). Officer Archer testified that for
most of the time he worked the post, only two officers worked the visiting room (Tr, 1694-95). He
said #1 was responsible for processing the inmates and visitors, #2 was responsible for strip
searching the incoming inmates and for doing the same at the end of their time in the visiting
room, and #3 was responsible for escorting the visitors (Tr, 1688, 89).

Ofﬁce.r Archer testified that he reported for the shift between 7:30 and 7:45 am, drew a
radio, keys and handcuffs from the Control Center, and reported to the visiting room where he
searched the room (Tr, 1692). He then testified that it was his “habit” to report to work 15 to 20
minutes early (Tr, 1729). He said there were different rooms including the strip search room, the
TV room and the main visiting area, all of which had 10 be scarched. In addition, the fence around
the institution, which is approximalte]y one mile long, had to be searched to make sure no holes
had been cut into it during the night (Tr, 1693-94). He stated #1 officer would get the paperwork
ready while #2 (and #3 if present that day) would do the fence check which took between 20 and
25 minutes (Tr, 1693-95). Officer Archer further testified that two days a week one of the Visiting
Room officers would have to escort the vending machine service man who would fill up the
vending machines for the inmates and visitors (T, 1695). Visiting began at 8:30 am and the
officers would be ready to take visitors at 8:25-8:30 (Tr, 1693). Officer Archer stated that there
were times when the officers were a little Jate in allowing visitors entry, the “visitors complained
and [the officers] would get told about it” by either the captain or the lieutenants (Tr, 1697). They

would be told they “need to be prepared and ready to go by 8:30.” (Tr, 1697)
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Officer Archer tesiified that visiting hours ended at 3 pm. One officer commenced
escorting visitors out in groups of five adults, first to the Control Center where visitors® hand
stamps were checked under a black light to make sure no inmates had gotten mixed in with the
visitors, and then to the front lobby where the Front Lobby Officer again checked the hand
stamps. Officer #2 began to strip search the inmates before they returned to the compound. He
said that officer could only do one inmate at a time, and it took 2-3 minutes per inmate if they
were being cooperative. The third officer stayed in the Visiting Room because the remaining
visitors could not be left unsupervised. Officer Archer said the visitors were all out of the unit
around 3:30-3:40. At that point another search of the area was performed by the officers. Officer
Archer said the officers turned in their equipment at the Control Center at 3:55-4:00 pm (T,
1698-1703).

Lt. Chmely testified that two Visiting Room officers would frequently do the fence check
so “it’s done twice as fast.” (Tr, 3326) He said the Visiting Room consisted of a big open floor
with some plastic chairs, so the search was around the perimeter of the room. He testified tha’% the
“entire room is easy ta search.” (Tr, 3327) He said the Visiting Room officers would not get in
trouble if visiting did not start at 8:30 because “Visiting is a privilege. . . not a right.” (Tr, 3327)
Lt. Chmely testified that there was nothing which would require the Visiting Room officers to be
in prior 1o 8 am because they had a half hour before visiting began; and, at the close of their shift,
he usually saw them between 3:30 and 3:45 pm in the lobby (Tr, 3329-3337). He said he usually
Just let them leave early when they were finished before 4 pm (T, 3337)'. Lt. Chmely testified that
if visiting was especially heavy, he would assign someone else to help out the officers (Tr, 3338).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency points to the camera footage and notes that the beginning and ending time for
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these officers ranged from 7 hours 56 minutes to § hours 4 minutes (citing Agency Exhibit “32").
The union claimed 17.5 minutes pre-shift work, apparently based upon Officer Archer’s

testimony that he always arrived 15-20 minutes before the start of his shift.

Visiting Escort

Facts

From the beginning of the recovery period until March, 2005 one officer was assigned on
weekends only as Visiting Escort to assist the other officers assigned to the visiting room. Officer
Munson testified that the Visiting Escort Officer walked with visitors from the front lobby to the
visiting room and back, and monitored activity in the visiting room. The shift hours were 8 am to
4 pm. Officer Munson stated that he arrived at the Control Center at 7:45 where he would get a
radio and a set of handcuffs, He said he would 2o to the visiting room, search it, and conduct
fence checks. He stated the visiting room officers were ready for visiting to begin at 8:40. At the
end of his shift, he dropped off his equipment at Control at 3:55 pm, but he said he Jefi at4 pm
(Tr, 2274-75).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency states that this post was simply an extra for the visiting room and should not
recover for the same reasons stated in the section on Visiting Room Officers.

The union asks for 15 minutes pre-shift pay based on Officer Munson’s testimony.
Non-Custody Staff Working Custody Posts

Facts

Patricia Manbeck, who holds the non-custody title of Case Manager, testified that non-
correctional officers such as herself, are sometimes assigned to work correctional posts. She said

there is no difference in the duties such personnel perform from those performed by correctional
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officers working the same post. She said “It’s a function of the position, not the person.” (Tr,
2321} Ms. Manbeck recalled that she knew she would be working a correctional post in advance
but did not know what post, or even if she would be working a post, until she arrived and spoke to
the Lieutenant in charge that day (Tr, 2324-25). Ms. Manbeck testified:

“I'believe it was Lieutenant Reed that would call us and say, ‘You're going to be day

watch, evening watch or morning watch. You report at this time. Report in to see the

lieutenant, and he’ll let you know if, in fact, you have a post.” (Tr, 2325)
Ms. Manbeck testified that she worked a 6:00 to 2:00 shift in Housing Unit 4A. She said she
arrived no later than 5:45 “In order to find out where I was going . . .and accomplish the relief.”
(Tr, 2325) She said she picked up a battery at the Control Center, walked by the Lieutenant’s
Office to check in, and walked to her housing unit, arriving at 5:55. She testified the exchange of
equipment and information with the person she was relieving took 5-10 minutes, so that person
would be leaving the Housing Unit zbout 6:05. She said most of the time the people who were
relieved by non-custody personnel were non-custody personnel themselves so the exchange was
probably a little longer (Tr, 2325-30). |

Alice Frederick, a drug treatment specialist, testified about working a Housing Unit from
10 pm to 6 am. She testified that she came in a half hour before her shift étarting time and report
to the Lieutenant’s Office because she did not know where she would be working at that time let
alone what equipment she needed. She said if she was not familiar with the post she was working,
she pulled the post orders, reviewed them to find out what equipment she would need, and asked
the Lieutenant any questions she might have. She stated she would then proceed back to Control
to get a battery and then go to her assigned post, arriving between 9:50 and 10 pm. Ms. Frederick
testified the actual relief took between five and fifieen minutes depending on how much

information needed to be conveyed. When her relief showed up, Ms. Frederick said she would be
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Jeaving the Housing Unit anywhere from § minutes before the hour to 5 minutes after; and, it was
a five minute walk to the Contro] Center where she would drop off her battery. Ms. Frederick
testified that a lot of times people relieving her were non-custody staff as well so they came in
early to make sure where they were going to be assigned (Tr, 2348-53).

Joseph Gudonis, a Case Manager, also testified about working a Housing Unit. He said he
arrived at 1:40 for a 2:00 to 10:00 shift, picked up a battery at Control and arrived at the Housing
Unit at 1:50. The officer he relieved Jeft the unit close to 2:00. He said when he was relieved, he
would depart the unit a couple minutes after 10 pm. He said he dropped his battery off at Control
at 10:10-10:12 pm (Tr, 2384-95).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency takes the position that these individuals are not entitled to recover unless they
can show that the Agency suffered and permitted their work.

The union simply argues that non-correctional officers are required to perform the same
pre and post-shift work when working correctional officer posts.

Posted Picture File

Facts

Correctional officers are required to review the Posted Picture File (hereinafter “PPF”) at
least monthly. The inmates whose pictures are contained in this file are potentially disruptive,
escape risks, and/or present a threat to staff or institution security (UnEx “N”). A number of
officers testified that they were unable to leave their pests during their shifts, and hence were
obliged to review the PPF before or after their shifts.

Officer Jacobs testified that each officer was required to read and sign the PPF, and that it

was kept in the lieutenant’s office (Tr, 640). He was asked if he had ever been able to look at the
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PPF at his post and answered that he had, but only about 10-15 months out of the 16 years he had
worked at FCI Schuylkill (Tr, 788-89). He did not recall ever being relieved to lock at the PPF
(Tr, 812). Officer Jacobs stated it took him anywhere from 15-30 minutes to review the PPF (TT,
643).

Officer Petch testified that when he worked Control #1 there was no time to go to the
lieutenant’s office to review the PPF. He said it took him 15-20 minutes to review the file (Tr,
913-14). He acknowledged that when he worked Compound on day watch he would review the
PPF during his shift because he was in and out of the lieutenant’s office all day Jong. But when
working the Control Center, he never asked to be relieved to review the PPF because “it’s a tough
post to be relieved with.” (Tr, 933)

Officer Gottshall testified that it took him 5-10 minutes to review the PPF, which he did
before his shift (Tr, 1035-36).

Officer Quirk testified that the review took him 15-20 minutes (Tr, 1164). He stated that
he had been able to review the PPF during his shift when working as a Compound Officer (Tr,
1219)

Officer Chiglinsky testified that it took him 15-20 minutes to review the PPF (Tr, 1405).
He also stated that he was able to review the PPF when working Compound, and also when he
was assigned as an extra officer (special assignment) (Tr, 1509-10).

Officer Bickelman testifed that since 2002 he had to go to the lieutenant’s office 95% of
the time to review the PPF (Tr, 1586).

Officer Evans testified that it took him 5-10 minutes 1o review the PPF, generally before
his shift (Tr, 1627).

Officer Archer testified that it took him 10-15 minutes to review the PPF. He said he was
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able to review the file during his shift when he worked as a Count Officer (Tr, 1707-08).

Officer McIllwain testified that it took him 15-20 minutes 1o review the PPF, which he
would do cither before assuming duties in the Housing Unit or after he had been relieved (Tr,
1883). On cross examination, Officer Mclllwain was asked whether he had asked for relief to
review the PPF when working in the Housing Units. He responded that he had asked, and
“Sometimes if they have extra people, which there doesn’t seem to be too many nowadays, they
would get you up there to do it, but not very often.” (Tr, 1898-99)

Officer Margetanski testified that it took him 10-15 minutes to review the PPF. He was
able to review the PPF during his shift when working “on the compound”. (Tr, 1980)

Oficer Seresky testified it took him 20-25 minutes to review the PPF. He also stated he
had been able to review the PPF during his shift when working Compound (Tr, 2194-95).

Officer Shaup testified it took him 15-20 minutes to review the PPF either before or after
his shift (Tr, 2238). He said he asked for relief during his shift once, but was told: “Nope. There’s
no relief.” (Tr, 2247) He said he never asked for relief again. |

Officer Munson testified it took him 10 minutes to review the PPF which he did either at
the beginning or end of his shift (Tr, 2277-78).

Former Captain Matevousian was asked if he was aware of people reviewing the PPF prior

to the start of their shifts. He replied:

“I've seen individuals come into the lieutenant’s office for a host of other reasons, a

variety of different reasons. They may have viewed it during that time frame.

But, once again, I’m not sure whether they’re coming to work or going home or if they’re

on the clock. But there was probably times that people have done that.” (T, 2963)

He testified that if someone had told him they were reviewing the PPF before the start of
their shift, he would have compensated them and told them not to do that (Tr, 2963).

Former Captain Bebow testified that he did not recall if anybody was relieved so they
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could review the PPF. If said if management was capable of relieving them, management would
relieve them. He testified that otherwise, the lieutenants were supposed to take the PPF around to
the staff so they could review it and sign it while on duty. He said the PPF was on the computer
for awhile, where staff could review it and e-mail a signature sheet to the lieutenant. However,
management had to take it off the computer, at which point he had the lieutenants take it around to
people (Tr, 2841).

Captain Taggart testified that the PPF could be teken into the Housing Units if they were
secured. He explained that the units were secured when the inmates were locked down from 10
pm until 6 am (Tr, 2666). He further testified: “A lot - - some reviewed it in the lieutenant’s
office.” (Tr, 2611)

Lt. Chmely also testified that he had seen people in the licutenant’s office reviewing the
PPF but he did not know of anybody reviewing it outside of their shift. He added that he did not
necessarily know what their shifts were. He could not recall how long the PPF was on the
computer (Tr, 33759). He stated that certain areas, such as the Housing Units, the Control Center,
and the SHU, had more than one officer, so one officer could be relieved to review the PPF (T,
3548-49).

Positions of the Parties

The Agency contends that the evidence failed to show that it suffered or permitted any

officers to review the PPF without compensation.
The union argues that the average pre and post-shifi time spent by officers reviewing the
PPF was 14.75 minutes per month.
UNION’S GENERAL ARGUMENTS

The union argues that each correctional officer must pick up a freshly charged battery from
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the Control Center before the start of the employee’s shift and must return the battery at the end of
the shif so that it can be recharged. In support of this assertion, the unjon cites the General Post
Orders (TEx “6" at 10) (UnPBr, 8, UnRepBr, 6). The union states that fresh batteries are necessary
so that body alarms which must be on the belt of correctional officers at all times (citing Ex “6"
at 11 - General Post Orders) (UnBr, 9) will be operable if needed. Certain testimony is cited by the
union as to the importance of picking up a fresh battery - e.g Officer Gottshall stating that he picks
up a battery “Because my life may depend on that battery.” (Tr, 997-98; UnRepBr, 6) The union
quotes management witnesses as well regarding the importance of a fresh battery, and points out
that it is the Agency itself which provides batteries at the Control Center (UnRepBr, 3, 8).

The union contends that picking up a battery is an “integral and indispensable” activity
that begins the continuous workday for which correctional officers must be compensated
(UnRepBr, 4). The union rejects management’s alleged claim that Compound officers deliver
batteries at the beginm"ng of each correctional officer’s shift, and points out that if a battery dies
during mid-shift, it could take 15 minutes, if not longer, from the time of a request unti] the
Compound Officer drops off the battery (UnRepBr, 7). The union notes that the Agency has never
issued any written directives to employees to cease the practice of picking up and returning
batteries at the Control Center (UnRepBr, 8).

The union states that manzgement knew or should have known that correctional ;Jfﬁcers
were performing the work at issue without compensation. It is noted that the General Post Orders
(JtEx “6") require all correctional officers to report to the institution in time to draw keys and
equipment, check for pertinent information, check in with the Shift Supervisor and be cn one’s
assigned post at the designated time. The union contends that because employees must perform

the work enumerated in the General Post Orders prior to arriving at their posts, management had
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actual knowledge that the employees were performing work off-the-clock (UnBr, 80). The union
quotes testimony from a number of witnesses, including .ones manning Housing Units, the Rear
Gate, Recreation, and Count, that Mmanagement gave officers verbal Instructions to begin work
prior to the start of their shifts (UnBr, 81-84), Testimony about repeated instances of management
refusing to pay for pre or post-shifi work is cited, and it is claimed that management would move

people to the bottom of the Mandate List (a rotating list of employees used when it is necessary to

aware if they were there early. The union notes that on foggy days, which can happen quite
frequently in the spring and fall, lieutenants stand in the administration building in front of the
Control Center with 4 copy of the daily roster to check off correctional officers as they arrive for
work and to assign fog duties to other employees, Other instances of lieutenants being present
when correctional officers were arriving or departing are cited by the union (UnBr, 88-91). The
union cites evidence of Lieutenant’s logs which documented body alarm checks of correctional
officers performed by the Control Center before and after those officers” scheduled shifis (UnBr,
11, 93-95). In this regard, the testimony of former Warden Holt is cited to show that one of the
first things he did cach morning was to read the Lieutenants’ logs (Tr, 2444) (UnRepBr, 18) Other

management testimony is cited to show actual know]edge(UnRepBr, 18-21).
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at the Control Center, check-in with the Lieutenant, travel to their posts, and exchange equipment
and information with the officer they are relieving during their shift hours when there is no
overlap between the shifts.” (UnBr, 95) Counsel continues that “management is aware that (1) the
posts require continuous coverage; (2) that the officers are required to perform the activities listed
above; and (3) that there is no overlap to allow for the officers to do this work in paid status.”
(UnBr, 95) The testimony of Officer Jacobs is cited as evidence that FCI Schuylkill previously
had overlapping shifts, but management removed the overlap shortly before the recovery period in
this case began. (UnBr, 95) It is further claimed that each bargaining unit employee witness
testified that management never instructed them not to perform work before and/or after their
shifts (UnBr, 96).

The union cites section 7(a) of the FLSA as requiring employers to pay overtime at the rate
of one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for each hour of overtime they work over 40
hours per week (29 U.S.C. § 207(a)). It cites 5 C.F.R. § 551.401(a) to establish that “hours of
work” include time during which an employee is “suffered or permitted” to work; and, it cites

Brennan v. General Motors Acceptance Corperation, 482 F.2d 825, 827 (5™ Cir., 1973) for the

notion that an employer is liable for work whether it has actual or constructive knowledge that the

work is performed. Reich v. Dep’t of Conservation & Natural Resources, 28 F.3d 1076,1082 (11*

Cir, 1994) and Cunningham v. Gibson Electric Co., supra, are cited for the proposition that actual

or constructive knowledge of supervisors is imputed to the employer. The union contends that an
employer has actual knowledge of employees” overtime worked where the person responsible for
approving overtime has observed the overtime worked by the employee but made no objection to

it and knew the employee was not being paid for it (citing, inter alia, Kappler v. Republic Pictures

Corp., 59 F. Supp. 112 (S.D. Iowa. 1945)). The union argues that constructive knowledge of
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overtime work has been attributed to the employer where a supervisor observed employees in the
workplace during hours outside of the employees® scheduled work hours and made no inquiry of

the employees” activities there (citing Cunningham v. General Electric Co.. supra)(UnBr, 97-100).

It is asserted that management has a duty and responsibility to see that work is not performed if it
does not want it to be performed (UnBr, 101-104). In addition, the union claims that management
has observed employees responding to emergencies off-the clock and has not compensated them
(UnBr, 92-93).

The union argues that employees are entitled to compensation from the moment they
perform the first “integral and indispensable” activity until they perform the last activity that is
integral and indispensable to the performance of their jobs. (UnBr, 104-05) Counsel contends that
activities that are integral and indispensable to an employee’s principal activity begin and end the

“continuous workday” and that employers must compensate employees for all time comprising the

continuous workday (citing IBP v. Alvarez, 546 U.S. 21 (2005)). The union states that bargaining
unit employees working correctional officer posts are therefore entitled to compensation from the
moment the continuous workday begins at the Control Center until it ends at the Contro] Center
(UnBr, 108-09) It claims that picking up a battery is an integral and indispensable activity that
begins the continuous workday (UnRepBr, 4). The union contends that numerous arbitrators
considering the exact same issue as that presented in this case have concluded that a correctional
officer’s work day begins when he or she picks up the first piece of equipment and ends when he

or she returns the last piece of equipment (UnBr, 109) (citinginter alia AFGE Local 3981 and FCI

Jesup, FMCS No. 94-07225 (2006); ECC Beaumont and AFGE. Council of Prison Locals. C-33,

FMCS No. 05-54516 (2006)).

The union charges that the Agency has failed to maintain proper records of employee
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hours, and it is therefore entitled to make its case purely through testimonial evidence. It cites

Anderson v. Mt, Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680, 687-88 (1946) for the concept that “The

burden then shifts to the employer to come forward with evidence of the precise amount of work
performed. . .” (UnBr, 114) The union asserts that the Agency has not negated the inferences to be

drawn from the union’s evidence (citing DeLeon v. Trevino, 163 F. Supp. 2d 682 (D. Tex., 2001)

and several arbitration decisions)(UnBr, 117).

With respect to management’s video foctage, the unjon rgfers to it as “cherry-picked”
because it consisted of 5 days during one quarter, and yet the recovery period is in excess of 6
years. In its brief, the unjon claims it is entitled to an inference that the video footage for the dates
not produced by the Agency is beneficial to its claims (UnBr, 118-19). In its reply brief, the union
contends that the video evidence demonstrates that on a daily basis, employees almost always
work more than 8 hours; and, that the video evidence should be considered as the Agency’s best-
case scenario for the amount of time worked by employees. The union points out that the videos
show that on April 10, 2007, 34 employees worked more than 8 hours and 22 of those employees
worked over 8 hours and 10 minutes; on April 11, 2007, 34 worked more than 8 hours and 24
worked more than 8 hours and 10 minutes; on May 14, 2007, 35 worked more than 8 hours and 11
worked over § hours and 10 minutes; on May 24, 2007, 36 worked more than 8 hours and 24
worked more than 8 hours and 10 minutes; and, on June 5, 2007, 39 worked more than 8 hours
and 26 worked more than 8 hours and 10 minutes (UnRepBr, 13). The union asserts that its
evidence establishes that employees work an even greater amount of regular and recurring
overtime.

The union argues that the additional work performed is not de minimis Relying to a large

extent on the standards set forth in Lindow v. U.S., supra), the union contends (1) it would not be
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administratively difficult to record the additional time because video surveillance, check-ins with

supervisors or a time clock could be used (UnBr, 121; UnRepBr, 17), (2) the aggregate amount of
compensable time is significant, and (3) the pre and post-shift work is regular (UnBr, 121-22;
UnRepBr, 10-12, 15-16).

Finally, the union contends that employee knowledge of overtime procedures is irrelevant.

It cites Newton v. Citv of Henderson, 47 F.3d 746, 748 (5" Cir., 1995) for the proposition that an

employer cannot stand idly by and allow an employee to perform overtime work without proper
compensation even if the employee does not make a claim for overtime compensation. (UnRepBr,
23-24) Additionally, it questions the credibility of the Agency’s witnesses noting that since
correctional officer shifts begin at one of six times, “it is ridiculous for management witnesses to
state that they would have no way of knowing that numerous employees arriving at, for instance,

7:45 am weuld be arriving for the 8:00 am shift.” (UnRepBr, 26)

AGENCY’S GENERAL ARGUMENTS

Management argues that the evidence shows that a lot depends on the individual employee
and his or her habits, rather than an Agency policy requiring employees to come in early or leave
after their shifts. Counsel points out that such variation, even if it were found that people worked
in excess of their 8 hours, would be administratively impossible to track (AgBr, 14).

Management contends that correctional services staff are not required to either pick up
batteries at the start of their shift or return them at the end of their shift. Management notes that it
is stated in the Specific Post Orders for Compound Officer (and has been since the beginning of
the recovery period) that it is one of their duties to deliver freshly charged batteries to other

officers (AgBr, 185, citing ItEx “6", vol. 5, p.1). The testimony of numerous management
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witnesses is cited including that of Captain Taggart who testified that based on his experience, the
average battery life was 10 hours (AgBr, 18). The testimony of Lt. Chmely was also quoted as
evidence that even if some staff picked up batteries, there was no regularity to who picked up and
who returned (AgBr, 19). It is pointed out that “the contention that all officers picked up a battery
before their shift and returned the used one at the end of the shift was not demonstrated by the
evidence, especially with respect to certain posts such as Camp and Qutside Patrol,”(AgRepBr,
15, 47). Management contends that posts that are manned 24 hours, such as Compound and the
Housing Units, are not even required to stop at Control (AgRepBr, 47).

Management states that correctional officers have never been required to check in with
lieutenants, in person, prior to the start of their shift. Management contends that the evidence,
sharply conflicting, demonstrates that people more often checked in from the post via telephone or
radio and were not required to check in personally (AgBr, 20). It is noted that at a point during the

life of the grievance, the language in the post orders changed to specifically reflect that officers

could check in by telephone or radio (AgBr, 22).

It is also contended by management that “the evidence did not show that officers were

required to check their mailboxes before the start of their shift.” (emphasis in original)(AgBr, 22)

Former Captain Matevousian is quoted as describing how he put a computer in one side of each
housing unit beginning in 2002 and continuing into 2003, so that it would cut down on the
officers” need to check mailboxes (AgBr, 23).

Management states that Security Inspection forms, which were required to be signed by
correctional officers, were signed by some staff before they performed the actual work, which was
the inspection itself. Management contends that signing the sheet is not compensable work, but

rather an act done for the staff member’s convenience so that he or she does not have to remember
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to sign the form later (AgBr, 24). Management claims that detail pouches (also referred to as crew
kits) were delivered to staff by the Compound Officer, who also picked them up. The testimony of
former Warden Nash is quoted in support (AgBr, 25-26).

Management contends that the correctional officers who testified readily admitted that
they were familiar with the institution’s overtime procedures, and says “it is axiomatic that they
now claim overtime but failed to do so at the time . . . (AgBr, 86) Article 6, section q of the
Master Agreement is cited for the proposition that both management and the employee are
required to review pay documents to detect over and underpayments (AgBr, 86) Counsel quotes
the testimony of the union’s witnesses and concludes it is nonsensical to think that staff who are
fully aware of how to request payment and who are routinely granted it when necessary would
allegedly work without compensation.” (AgBr, 86-90) Management concludes that the officers

either did not ask for overtime compensation or were paid (AgRepBr, 38-41).

Management states that correctional officers are solicited for changes and suggestions for

the post orders on a quarterly basis, and argues that “Tt strains the bounds of reason that if officers
were being made to work beyond their shift that no one would comment on it using this
mechanism or suggest a change to alleviate it.” (AgBr, 90) Management says it made it clear that
officers were not to work in excess of their 8 hours without compensation (AgRepBr, 44-45).
Agency Exhibit 30, a January 16, 2004 memo from former Warden John Nash to all department
heads and supervisors, is said to have reminded them that staff are to be given a reasonable time
to report to their post, if drawing equipment, and a reasonable amount of time to return it at the
end of the day. The memorandum is quoted as stating: “Reporting to work early, staying late or
working on a day off, without being compensated, is not to occur. Compensatory time and

overtime cannot occur unless previously approved by your Associate Warden.” (AgBr, 93)
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Counsel also quotes Warden Thomas Sniezak as having testified that staff should arrive at work
on time, put in their hours, then leave on time; and, that Warden Sniezak could not think of a staff
member who worked more than a de minimis amount past his or her shift who had not been
compensated (AgBr, 94).

Management contends that correctional officers have worked out their own way of
performing their duties since some arrived early and left early. Counsel points out that this also
shows the administrative difficulty of tracking the officers’ comings and goings (AgBr, 96-99).
Management states that one of the more unbelievable claims by the union is that management
should know whether a staff member is working in excess of 8 hours by simply observing staff
coming and going (AgRepBr, 43). With respect to the lieutenants’ logs showing body alarm
testing, management cites the testimony of former Captain Bebow and Lieutenant Chmely to the
effect that (1) the testing can include both custody and non-custedy staff, (2) sometimes the
Control Center Officer will go ahead and test body alarms “even if the day watch staff were still
on post to save the evening watch some time when they came in, testing them”, and (3) they did
not know where the officer testing body alarms was getting his times. (AgBr, 100) Management
further contends that there are several different clocks in Control all with different times
(AgRepBr, 43).

Management denies being familiar with the scheduled hours of individual correction
officers. Testimony by Officer Seresky that management knew he was working over 8 hours
because he often would walk in with the lieutenant when he worked morning watch Control, is
contradicted on the basis that he conceded the lieutenant would not know what time he left (AgBr,
103). Officer Jacobs’ testimony about having discussed the portal to portal problem with former

Captain Bebow (Tr, 800-01) is dismissed as having been categorically denied by Captain Bebow

§
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(AgRepBr, 37, citing Tr, 2842). Management argues that it did not instruct officers to arrive prior
to their shift start time and asks, “If the employees truly were told to arrive early, why do they all
not arrive consistently at the same time?” (AgRepBr, 38)

Management cites testimony by its witnesses that staff talk about personal things on
occasion during a relief (AgBr, 101). Counse! states that management tried to take a pro-active
approach to portal issues and address them before they happened. For example, former Captain
Matevousian is quoted as having moved equipment into the Housing Units so officers did not
have to stop at Control, and installing computers on one side of the Housing Units to create less of
a need to check mailboxes. Former Captain Bebow is quoted as providing a 15 minute leeway to
the OP Officer to account for equipment (but not out of a portal concern - rather, in order to keep
both trucks from relieving at the same time); and, he had crew kits distributed to day watch
officers by the Compound Officers (AgBr, 109-12).

Management states that officers have been compensated in a variety of ways for times they
have worked beyond their shift hours, including lowering people on the mandate list (AgBr, 113).
Management also contends that most of the union’s witnesses were led through their answers and
prompted when they forgot something. Officer Jacobs is accused of misleading testimony in
connection with the admission of Union Exhibit “PP” into evidence. That exhibit consists of
walking times from various locations in the institution to other such locations. Counsel for the
union did the actual timing but on direct examination it appeared that Officer Jacobs did so.
Management requests a finding that all of Mr. Jacobs” testimony at any point in the hearings be
found to be not credible. Likewise, because of its allegation of leading questions, it asks that any
credibility determinations be resolved in favor of the Agency (AgBr, 118-23).

With regard to the video footage, management quotes former Captain Bebow’s testimony
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that the dates were chosen at random (AgRepBr, 48 citing Tr, 2902). Management quotes SIS
Tech James Tomlinson’s testimoﬁy that it took him 8 hours a day to review each chosen day’s
footage. The video, which encompassed five days during the period from April 10, 2007 through
June 5, 2007, is described as a helpful tool in evaluating some of the claims made by the union
(AgBr, 116-17).

Management argues that any work that may be done outside of employees”’ shifts is de
minimis. Management points to the administrative difficulty in recording the additional time and
notes that if video footage were utilized, multiple cameras would be necessary and review would

take more than the 8 hours per day the instant review took. Carlsen v. United States, 521 F.3d

1371, is cited in support of the concept that a similar shift exchange between lieutenants was
deemed difficult to track. Management further states that the aggregate amount could vary widely
based on the fact officers do not work over 8 hours on a daily basis; and, therefore this factor
cannot be measured. Also, management alleges that any work in excess of § hours is not done on
aregular basis (AgRepBr, 50-5 D). |

In its Reply Brief, management makes a number of additional points. It notes that the
Union Brief does not mention the testimony of Agency witnesses and therefore asserts that their
testimony be deemed undisputed (AgRepBr, 11). Management claims that the methodology
employed in the Union Brief of averaging pre and post-shift times between two or more officers is
improper, and that no authority is cited in support of the method (AgRepBr, 12).

With respect to the Compound Officer it asks why Officer Jacobs comes to work 15
minutes early, while Officer Seresky arrives a half hour early. Tt concludes that the habits of
individual officers vary (AgRepBr, 17).

Regarding SHU #1, it alleges the union did not take into account Officer Gottshall’s
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testimony that he saved 5 minutes when the Post Orders were changed to have him check in with
the lieutenant by phone. Management also notes that the video on Agency Exhibit “32B” shows
Officer Gottshall working less than 8 hours (AgRepBr, 19-20).

Management notes that none of the video footage shows a Camp officer coming into the
main institution (AgRepBr, 21).

With regard to Control Center #1, management quotes Officer Seresky as filling out the 6
page inventory of equipment during the night (i.e. during his shift)(AgRepBr, 21-22),

Management states that the video showed OP officers entering the institution on only one
day; and, that the Post Orders do not require the officers to enter the institution any further than
the front Iobby (A gRepBr, 22-23),

Management argues that the union calculation of 22.5 minutes for Housing Unit Officers
from the beginning of the grievance period until the first quarter of 2005 is based on the averaging
of two individuals who testified about different shifts. It questions Officer Chiglinsky’s testimony
that picking up a battery, signing a security inspection form and turning the accountability chit
takes 10 minutes. It points to the video footage for A-side day watch officers, notes that the times
worked vary from less than 8 hours to 8 hours, 9 minutes, and argues that these times are nothing
near the 32.5 minutes claimed by the union for the period, third quarter 2006 1o the present. It also
points to the videos of Officer McIllwain while working Housing Unit 2B which show him
working less than § hours twice, and 8 hours, 7 minutes on a third date, and claims his conduct
should preclude any recovery for the B-side during the period, third quarter 2006 to the present
(AgRepBr, 23-27).

With regard to SHU #2, #3, and #4 management states the videos show these officers

reporting early and leaving early, often before 8 hours is up (AgRepBr, 27-28).
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The testimony of Officer Margetanski that a briefing between Camp #2 officers would
take 10-15 minutes, is deemed to strain belief (AgRepBr, 28).

The video for Control #2 is said to vary from 8 hours 2 minutes to 8 hours 9 minutes for
day watch, and from 8 hours 5 minutes to 8 hours 14 minutes for evening watch. Management
concludes that this evidence merely shows that people arrive based on their personal habits
(AgRepBr, 29).

Management acknowledges that the video footage indicates officers report early for the
Rear Gate post, but claims they leave prior to the end of their scheduled shift time. It states the
videos show a range of times worked from 8§ hours 2 minutes to 8 hours 19 minutes. Management
concludes that there is nothing about this post which requires an officer to work in excess of 8
hours (AgRepBr, 30).

The video is cited as showing a broad range of times for Count Officer with one individual
working 11 minutes short of 8 hours and another 19 minutes over, Management concludes that the
post need not work more than 8 hours, and if it does, the officer “should have contacted a
lieutenant.”(AgRepBr, 30-31)

Based on the video footage, management notes that 3:46 seems to be a popular departure
time for Visiting Room officers; and, it notes they often work less than 8 hours {AgRepBr, 31).

With regard to the Reception Officer, it is noted that Officer Munson testified he went
from Control to the Front Lobby, and that he did not mention checking his mailbox. Management
concludes that post does not work more than 8 hours (AgRepBr, 32).

The videos are cited as showing that the Front Lobby Officer only worked more than 8

hours on one occasion (AgRepBr, 33).

The time claimed for Visiting Escort is questioned because Officer Munson testified he
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never left early but was captured on video doing so (AgRepBr, 33).

Management states that it defies belief that the claim for Camp Visiting would exceed that
for the Visiting Room at the main institution since the search procedures are more stringent at the
latter location. In addition, Lt. Chmely is quoted as having seen Camp Visiting officers sitting in
the lieutenant’s office at the end of the day (AgRepBr, 33-34).

Management argues that most of the union witnesses acknowledged they had reviewed the
PPF during their shift at least on occasion (AgRepBr, 37).

Finally, management contends that the Union’s assertion that correctional officers respond
to emergencies before and after their shift without compensation is vague at best (AgRepBr, 35).

DECISION

THE LAW
The law regarding FLSA claims is fairly well settled. The statute states that no covered
employer, including the Federal government, “shall employ any of his employees. . . fora
workweek longer than forty hours unless such employee receives compensation for his
employment in excess of [40 hours] at a rate not less then one and one-half times the regular rate
at which he is employed.” (29 U.S.C. § 207 (a)(1)) Neither “work” nor “workweek” is defined in

the statute (IBP, Inc v. Alvarez, supra). In Alvarez the Supreme Court noted that its early cases

under the FLSA defined those terms broadly. It stated that, for example, in Anderson v. Mt.

Clemens Pottery Co.(supra), it defined the statutory workweek to “include all time during which

an employee is necessarily required to be on the employer’s premises, on duty or at a prescribed
workplace.” In the context of the Anderson case this meant that the time necessarily spent by
employees walking from time clocks near the factory entrance gate to their workstations must be

treated as part of the workweek.
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The Court in Alvarez continued its review of the judicial history of the FLSA by noting
that the year after its decision in Anderson, Congress passed the Portal to Portal Act which, inter
alia, narrowed the coverage of the FLSA by excepting two activities that had been treated as
compensable under the Supreme Court’s cases, viz - walking on the employer’s premises to and
from the actual place of performance of the principal activity of the employee, .and activities that
are “preliminary™ or “postliminary” to that principal activity. These exceptions were contained in
Section 4(a) of the Portal to Portal Act. The Court in Alvarez then stated that a regulation
promulgated by the Secretary of Labor shortly after the enactment of the Portal to Portal Act
concluded that the Act had no effect on the computation of hours worked “within™ the workday. It
noted that the Department of Labor had adopted “the continuous workday” rule “which means that
the ‘workday is generally defined as ‘the period between the commencement and completion on
the same workday of an employee’s principal activity or activities.””  Stating that these
regulations have remained in effect since 1947, the Court quoted the “continuous workday”
regulation in full. In relevant part, the regulation (29 CFR § 790.6(a)) reads: ©. . .to the extent that
activities engaged in by an employee occur after the employee commences to perform the first

principal activity on a particular workday and before he ceases the performance of the Jast

principal activity on a particular workday, the provisions of [section 4(a) of the Portal to Portal

Act] have no application.” (emphasis supplied)

In Alvarez, one of the precise issues was whether employees at a poultry processing plant
were covered by the FLSA for time spent donning and doffing pretective gear, and walking to and
from the plant’s production line. The “principal question”, stated the Court, was “whether
postdonning and predoffing walking time is specifically excluded [from the ambit of the FLSA]

by § 4(2)(1).” The Court concluded it was not, and held that activities such as the donning and
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doffing of specialized protective gear that are performed either before or after the regular work
shift are compensable under the portal-to-portal provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act
because those activities are “an integral and indispensable part of the principal activities for which
the covered workmen are employed. . .”

Alvarez makes it clear that under the FLSA, activities that are integral and indispensable

to an employee’s principal activities begin and end the continuous workday, and an employer
must compensate its employees for all time during the continuous workday.

In the case of a Federal agency, such as the Bureau of Prisons, regulations of the Office of
Personnel Management shed additional light on what constitutes “hours of work.” Basic
principles are set forth in § CFR 551.401 which states:

“(a) All time spent by an employee performing an activity for the benefit of an agency and
under the control or direction of the agency is ‘hours of work.” Such time includes:

(1) Time during which an employee is required to be on duty.,

(2) Time during which an employee is suffered or permitted to work: and

(3) Waiting time or idle time which is under the control of an agency and which is for
the benefit of an agency.”

Another regulation of the Office of Personnel Management, 5 CFR 551.104 defines
“suffered or permitted [to] work™ as “any work performed by an employee for the benefit of an
agency, whether requested or not, provided the employee’s supervisor knows or has reason 1o
believe that the work is being performed and has an opportunity to prevent the work being
performed.” Application of this rule would require proof that the agency had actual or
constructive knowledge that work was being performed. By its explicit terms, it would apply even
if the work was not “requested” by the agency.

The law with regard to the FLSA further provides that management has a duty to control
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employees’ work hours. The duty is found in yet another Federal regulation, 29 CFR § 785.13,

which stateg:

“. . .itis the duty of the management to exercise its control and see that the work is not
performed if it does not want it to be performed. It cannot sit back and accept the benefits
without compensating for them, The mere promulgation of a rule against such work is not
enough. Management has the power to enforce the rule and must make every effort to do

. 80.”

The case law is replete with instances where management repeatedly directed employees

that they were not to work in excess of 40 hours per week, and yet damages were awarded under

the FLSA because the employer did not enforce its stated prohibition (Kappler v. Republic

Pictures Corp., supra, (memo to all employees from supervisor); Brennan v. G.MA.C,, supra

(immediate supervisors “persistent! reminded” the employees that their jobs were to be
P P J plcy J

performed in 40 to 42 hours); Reich v. Dep’t of Conservation and Natural Resources, supra

(Department used weekly report form which advised that officers were not allowed to work more
than forty hours per week unless directed otherwise by the Commissioner). In upholding a finding

of a violation of the FLSA, the court in Reich v. Dep’t of Conservation and Natural Resources,

supra, noted that “There is no indication in the record that the Department did anything at any
time relevant to this litigation to discourage the overtime required by the vast majority of its
officers to properly perform their duties other than to promulgate its policy against such work and
to urge the officers to ‘work their best 407" It remarked that “no officer was ever disciplined for
violating the forty-hour rule.” Another aspect of management’s duty is that it can be held liable

under the FLSA even ifan employee fails to claim overtime compensation. (Newton v. City of

Henderson, supra (“An employer who is armed with [knowledge that an employee is working

overtime] cannot stand idly by and allow an employee to perform overtime work without proper

compensation, even if the employee does not make a claim for the overtime compensation.”)
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In addition, employers have the duty under the FLSA of maintaining proper records of

wages, hours and other conditions and practices of employment (United States Penitentiary.,

Marion, Ilinois and AFGE Local 2343, 61 FLRA No. 154 (2006) (citing Anderson v. Mt.

Clemens Pottery Co, supra). The rules in this aspect of FLSA practice are set forth in Anderson,

supra, which, after stating that the employee bears the burden of proof, held as follows:

“When the employer has kept proper and accurate records, the employee may easily
discharge his burden by securing the production of those records. But where the
employer’s records are inaccurate or inadequate and the employee cannot offer convincing
substitutes, a more difficult problem arises. The solution, however, is not to penalize the
employee by denying him any recovery on the ground that he is unable to prove the precise
extent of uncompensated work. Such a result would place a premium on an employer’s
failure to keep proper records . . . In such a situation we hold that an employee has carried
out his burden if he proves that he has in fact performed work for which he was
improperly compensated and if he produces sufficient evidence to show the amount and
extent of that work as a matter of just and reasonable inference. The burden then shifts to
the employer to come forward with evidence of the precise amount of work performed or
with evidence to negative the reasonableness of the inference to be drawn from the
employee’s evidence. If the employer fails to produce such evidence, the court may then
award damages to the employee, even though the result be only approximate.”

In the event the employee may exercise his or her right to estimate the hours worked by a
Just and reasonable inference (as provided in Anderson), the employee must show by a
preponderance of the evidence that compensable work was performed without proper

compensation (Deleon v. Trevino, supra).

Notwithstanding the existence of an otherwise valid FLSA claim, the law provides that if
the overtime work performed is de minimis, no recovery will be granted. In its rules, the Federal
Office of Personnel Management provides as follows in § CFR § 551.412:

“If an agency reasonably determines that a preparatory or concluding activity is closely
related to an employee’s principal activities, and is indispensable to the performance of the
principal activities, and that the total time spent in that activity is more than 10 minutes per
workday, the agency shall credit all of the time spent in that activity, including the 10
minutes, as hours of work.” (emphasis supplied)

The regulation was upheld by the Federal Labor Relations Authority in United States Penitentiary,
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Leavenworth, Kansas and AFGE Local 919, 59 FLRA No. 106 (2004), which noted that court

decisions, including Lindow v. United States, supra, did not involve this regulation and are “not

controlling.”

Lindow appears to be the leading case on the question of what constitutes de minimis
work. The court acknowledged that most courts have found daily periods of approximately 10
minutes de minimis even though otherwise compensable, but stated that “There is no precise
amount of time that may be denied compensation as de minimis.” It set out a three pronged test for
determining whether a claim is de minimis: (1) whether the daily time is so minuscule that it
cannot, as a practical administrative matter, be recorded for payroll purposes; (2) the size of the
aggregate claim (stating relief may be granted for claims that might have been minimal on a daily
basis but, when aggregated, amount to a substantia] claim); and, (3) whether the employees
performed the work on a regular basis. The Lindow court denied relief finding that the defendant
Army Corps of Engineers would have had difficulty recording the overtime as an administrative
matter; seven to eight minutes a day were spent by the employees reading the log book and
exchanging information, but the work was not always performed before their shifts; and, the two
afore-mentioned factors took precedence despite the fact the aggregate claim may be substantial.

Office of Personne] Management regulation 5 CFR § 551.412 was not mentioned in the decision.

Recently, the 10 minute rule was questioned in Spoerle v. Kraft Foods Global, Inc, 527 F.
Supp. 2d 860 (W.D. Wis., 2007) which stated “no court has explained why 10 minutes of work is
worthy of compensation but 9 minutes and 59 seconds is not.” The court went on to say that
“Taken to its logjcal conclusion, a ‘de minimis’ rule that focuses only on time could swallow up
an entire shift.” The court further quoted from a Third Circuit case, DeAsencio v. Tyson Foods,

Inc, S500°F. 3d 361 (2007), which quoted the following from 29 CFR § 785.47:
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“...An employer may not arbitrarily fail to count as hours worked any part, however
small, of the employee’s fixed or regular working time or practically ascertainable period
of time he is regularly required to spend on duties assigned to him.”

5 CFR § 551.412 was not mentioned, nor was it at issue in either Spoerle or DeAsencio. It

was held to be preempted by the FLSA in an arbitration decision, FCI Beaumont, Texas and

AFGE. Council of Prison Locals, supra (Arbitrator Bernard Marcus). In an excellent analysis,

Arbitrator Marcus noted that strict application of the 10 minute rule could result in the Agency
extracting from its employees 45 minutes per week of work (assuming they worked 9 minutes
over their scheduled time five days a week) for which it does not have to pay. He concluded that
“This practice not only does not comply with the Fair Labor Standards Act but is precisely what
Congress intended to outlaw.” I am in agreement with Arbitrator Marcus’ analysis but can find no
authority in the courts which holds 5 CFR § 551.412 to be preempted or otherwise unlawful,
Therefore, I am constrained to apply that regulation in my analysis.
GENERAL ISSUES

My findings of fact commence with the humble battery. The evidence established that with
the exception of certain posts (during certain periods) each correctional officer must pickupa
freshly charged battery from the Control Center before beginning his or her shift. The General
Post Orders (tEx “6") state, in the section on radio transmissions:

“A. Each employee who is assigned a radio should insure a freshly chareed battery is

installed in the radio when beginning the tour of duty. Oncomine Officers will pick up a
new battery and ensure the departing staff member returns the dischareed battery to

Control.” (emphasis supplied)

In addition, the General Post Order with respect to body alarms states:

“Body alarms are issued to assigned staff . . to expedite assistance in case of an
emergency where the staff member cannot easily access a telephone. Body alarms are to be
on the belt at all times and never laid down or left unattended. . . The Control Center will
be notified by telephone whenever a Body Alarm is moved outside its respective area,
Personnel assigned to posts requiring a body alarm will draw a fresh battery at the
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beginning of the shift. Relieved staff will turn in the used battery.” (emphasis supplied)

The testimoeny of the correctional officers established that freshly charged batteries were
routinely picked up at the Control Center at the start of a shift. Officer Gottshall’s testimony was
the most dramatic as to the importance of this task when he stated that he picks up a fresh battery:
“Because my life may depend on that battery.” (Tr, 997-98) The practice was confirmed by
Officer Seresky who testified that based upon his experience working in Control, every
correctional officer picked up a battery there at the start of the shift, and every correctional officer
dropped off a used battery there at the end of the shift (Tr, 2069-70). Associate Warden Patricia
Rodman testified that correctional officers pick up and drop off batteries at the Control Center,
and Captain Brent Taggart acknowledged the obvious when he said that it would be a benefit to
the Agency that the correctional officers have working batteries because it would not do one any
good to have a radio without a battery that works (Tr, 2588-89, 2630).

I cannot agree with the Agency’s assertion that correctional officers need only contact the
Compound Officer to have a fresh battery delivered to their post. Officer Jacobs testified that
when a Compound Officer receives a request for a fresh battery in mid-shift, it could take 15
minutes for the battery to be delivered. (Tr, 804-05) Officer Gottshall testified that when a fresh
battery is requested from the Compound Officer: “you don’t know when you're going to get that
battery. It could be awhile. Compound may be backed up in trash, or they might have something
they’re doing down in the unit or back in food service. There’s a lot of responsibility that they
have too.” (Tr, 1077-78) Captain Taggart testified that the average battery life was 10 hours (Tr,
2629). That fact underscores the need to pick up fresh batteries at the start of a shift and to drop

off used batteries for recharging at the close of a shift. Any other approach would be imprudent,

and might well endanger the lives of correctional officers. In AFGE Local 981 and FCI Jesup,
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Georgia, supra, Arbitrator Jerome J. LaPenna noted that, as here, the Agency at no point required

the pick-up of batteries at the Control Center to stop. He found that the pick-up of a freshly
charged battery at the start of a shift is a pre shift activity that is indispensable to the performance

of the principal work activity of an employee (see also Federal Bureau of Prisons. Beaumont.

Texas and AFGE. Council of Prison Locals, supra). I am in accord that the picking up of a battery

at the Control Center is an activity that is integral and indispensable to most of the employees’
principal activities (with exceptions to be discussed, infra), begins the continuous workday, and

ends it when the used battery is returned to the Control Center.

The evidence also established that a number of correctional officers checked their
mailboxes in the administration building before beginning their shifts. For example, Officer
Jacobs testified that he checked his mailbox to make sure there were no shift changes (Tr, 662),
and Officer Seresky testified that he checked it for the same reason, explaining that “they
wouldn’t e-mail it to you, but print out a hard copy and put it in your mailbox.” (Tr, 2029-30)
Union Exhibit “Q” is a memo dated September 16, 2005 sent from Lt. Judy Poling to what

appears to be all correctional institution personnel. It reads as follows:

“T'am sure most of you have seen the new box on the wall in the Administration Building
between the Visiting Room and Control, This box has now been labeled with all the

Housing Units and Compound. Please place all wake ups, call outs, efc ... in this box for
the Unit Officers. This mailbox is not for mail for individual Officers but for the operation

of the units.

Please refrain from placing any further paperwork in the windows of the Control Center
and use the new boxes for any information you wish to have passed on to the housing

units.

To Officers working in housing units, please ensure you check this box daily on each shift
for any information such as your wake ups, call outs, etc.

Thank you.”

Although the Agency has argued that officers were not required to check their mailboxes

80



before the start of their shift, it would appear prudent to do so for those posts which would be
affected by assignment changes. The September 16, 2005 memo virtually mandates that the
mailbox be checked by Housing Unit officers; and, although the memo does not specifically
say that the mailbox must be checked before a shift, (1) that would be the rational time to check
for “wake ups, call outs, ete...”, and (2) given the distance from the Housin g Units to the
Administration Building and the evidence that Housing Unit officers could not easily be relieved,
it would make no sense for a Housing Unit Officer to try to peruse his or her mailbox during a
shift ( AgEx “33" showed a walking time from Control to Unit 3A of 3 minutes 50 seconds -
UnEx “PP” showed a walking time from the first door of the Control sally port (Administrative
Building) to the second door of the Control sally port (Compound) of I minute 20 seconds - in
total it would be about a 5 minute walk from the Housing Unit to the Administrative Building,
plus time spent looking at the contents of the mailbox, plus a 5 minute walk back 1o the Housing
Unit). Accordingly, with regard to those posts where there was evidence that the correctional
officer checked his or her mailbox, that action should be considered compensable time.
Likewise, there was testimony by some correctional officers that detail pouches were
picked up on the way to their post. Former Captain Matevousian testified that management had
the detail pouches distributed to the Housing Units before the day watch officer arrived on post
(Tr, 2995). Ms. Manbeck confirmed that at some point correctional officers no longer had to pick
up crew Kits (detail pouches). Apparently the change had occurred by Mérch, 2005 (Tr, 2327-28).
I'am unable to ascertain from the evidence exactly when the change took place. Time spent
picking up detail pouches should be considered compensable time until the change in practice

took place. This will affect only those posts where there is evidence that detail pouches had to be

obtained.
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Checking in with a lieutenant in the latter’s office varied post by post. At some point
officers were advised to check in with the lieutenant via telephone. ( compare Specific Post
Orders dated March 30, 2003 for SHU #1 which state “Check in with the Lieutenant...” and
Specific Post Orders dated March 8, 2006 for SHU #1 which state “Check with the Lieutenant via
telephone from your post . ..”). As in the case of detail pouches, time spent checking into the
Lieutenant’s Office should be considered compensable time until the change in post orders took
place. Again, this will only affect those posts where there is evidence that correctional officers
physically checked into the Lieutenant’s Office.

The evidence showed that a number of officers signed the Security Inspection forms on the
way to their posts. Former Captain Matevousian was quite right when he testified that the officers
should not have been signing the forms before their shift because the forms were intended to
report what occurred during their shift. He characterized the practice as “a bad habit [which]
should have been corrected.” (Tr, 2995) He said it took “maybe two seconds to sign.” (Tr, 2995)1
agree with the Agency’s contention that signing the sheet was simply an act done for the staff
member’s convenience so that he or she did not have to remember to sign the form later; and,
therefore, is not compensable. |

The Agency’s defense that correctional officers should not recover because they failed to
previously ask for pre and post-shift overtime is contrary to law and fact. As cited earlier, an
employer who knows that an employee is working overtime cannot allow the employee to perform

overtime work without proper compensation “even if the em lovee does not make a claim for the
prop P Pio)

overtime compensation.” (Newton v. City of Henderson, supra) (With respect to this employer’s
knowledge, see infra.) Article 6, section q of the Master Agreement deals essentially with

mathematical errors and is not applicable to 2 general overtime dispute. The section deals
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overwhelmingly with overpayments to employees and the procedures to be followed in that event.

There was substantial testimony by correctional officers that they had, in fact, requested
overtime but had run into a general attitude that they should “suck it up.” Officer Jacobs testified:

“...if we would ask, they would tell you it was part of the job more or less. That was in

the beginning. As we went through the years, you just didn’t even think about it. You just

did it. I mean - like I said, I can go back to years ago when they said you got to come in -

you got to come in early to do your job. But now, you really don’t even think about it. You

just do it.” (Tr, 808)

Officer Quirk testified that he had complained about being relieved late, and had been told
by the lieutenants, “Well, just suck it up” or “just deal with it.” (Tr, 1155) Officer Margetanski
testified that he asked the Operations Lieutenant to be paid for a late relief, and was told, “Suck it
up.” (Tr, 1958) Officer Seresky testified that he called the Lieutenant one day to tell him he was
getting out Jate. He testified the Lieutenant’s response was that if he gave Seresky overtime he
would have to deduct time off Seresky’s relief. Seresky continued with his testimony as follows:

“I said, “Why would you have to do that?’

Because ] have to account for overtime. The only way I can account for overtime is if he
was late.

I’'m like, *Well, he’s not late. Things are running a little bit late today. We have extra
information and stuff like that.’

‘Come on now. You can suck it up. It’s only a little bit of time.’™ (Tr, 2065-66)
Officer Archer testified that while working a Housing Unit, he was leaving the institution at §:10
or 8:15 am and was walking towards the Control Center. He testified that he passed Lt. Poling
who was walking towards the Lieutenant’s Office. He continued:

“And I asked her, ‘Do you see what time it is?” And, of course, Lieutenant Poling, she
said, ‘It’s eight o’clock.’

And T looked at my watch, and I noticed it says 8:15. I went to the Control Center, and the
Control Center clock said exactly the same time as my watch - well, maybe not exactly,
but within a minute or two either way.” (Tr, 1713)
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The evidence established that correctional officers did ask for overtime pay but found themselves
in a culture where management strongly disapproved of overtime.

Management’s defense that it made it clear that officers were not to work in excess of
eight hours without compensation, is misplaced. As noted above, cases under the FLSA have
frequently awarded damages despite repeated management directives that employees were not to

work more than 40 hours per week (Kappler v. Republic Pictures Corp, supra; Brennan v.

G.M.A.C,, supra; Reich v. Dep’t of Conservation and Natural Resources, supra). In addition, the

January 16, 2004 memo from Former Warden John Nash to all Department Heads and

Supervisars, is internally contradictory and would necessarily require the overlap of shifts. The

memo reads, in relevant part:

“ This is a reminder to all department heads and supervisors of your responsibility to
ensure your staff are leaving their work site prior to the end of their shift, allowing for a
reasonable amount of time to retum their keys and equipment to Control Center. They
should be exiting the institution at the time designated as the end of their shift. Also, at the
beginning of their shift, your staff should not be receiving their keys and equipment from
Control Center prior to the time designated as the beginning of their shift and they should
be given a reasonable amount of time to report to their work site. . . a reasonable amount
of time is defined as ten (10) minutes. In other words, you should not be requiring your
staff 1o be at their work site at the time designated as the beginning of their shift, nor
should you be allowing your staff to leave their work site at the time designated as the end
of their shift. Obtaining keys and equipment from Control Center and returning them at the
end of the day are activities that are to be performed during their duty hours. If your staff
are not currently following this policy, either by their own chojce or your request, and not
being properly compensated, it must cease and desist immediately.

.. .Reporting to work early, staying late or working a day off, without being compensated,
is not to occur. . . overtime cannot occur unless previously approved by your Associate

Warden. . .” (AgEx “30)

Warden Nash’s memo states the requirements of the FLSA perfectly. It recognizes that
employees must be compensated from the time they pick up equipment at the Contrel Center until
they drop off equipment at the Control Center. The problem is that it mandates an impossible task

where, as here, many posts require continuous coverage. If a correctional officer were to arrive at
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the Control Center at the time designated as the beginning of his or her shift, let’s say 6 am, and
was then given 10 minutes to report to the post, the officer being relieved would necessarily be
leaving the post no earlier than 6:10 am and would be leaving the institution more than 10 minutes
after the end of his or her shift. Literal compliance with the first paragraph of the memo would
mean that overtime would be earned in all cases; and yet, the second paragraph bars overtime
unless previously approved by an Associate Warden. The memo underscores the point that if
continuous coverage of a post is required, the only way there can be compliance with the FLSA is
to have overlapping shifts. (Theoretically, if all relieving officers arrived exactly five minutes
before their shifts and all departing officers left exactly five minutes after their shifts, the de
minimis exception to the FLSA could be satisfied - but that was not what Warden Nash proposed
in the memo).

As stated above, one of the prerequisites of an award of damages under the FLSA is that
management had actuval or constructive knowledge that employees were performing pre and/or
post-shift work. The evidence established that management had such knowledge, both actual and
constructive. Lieutenants routinely insisted that correctional officers arrive at the institution before
their shifts began. For example, Officer Margetanski testified that he and another officer arrived at
the institution later than usual because of a traffic accident. He testified that he was at Control
drawing his battery at 3:55 pm (for a 4 pm shift) and the evening watch lieutenant was in Control
taking count; and, she instructed him that he was late at 3:55. Officer Margetanski said he replied
“I'm not late - I still have five minutes to get down to the housing unit.” He testified that the
lieutenant replied, “You’re never going to make it on time to start count. So you're late.” Officer
Margetanski said the lieutenant told the other officer he was late as well (Tr, 1958-59),

Officer Shaup testified that he would be pressured by lieutenants to have the recreation
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area open by 6 am even though his shift did not begin until that time. He testified that he would be
told by lieutenants, “Get it done. Get whatever you have to do to get that open when they call
mainline [breakfast].” (Tr, 2229)

Officer Seresky testified that one night, he was running late, and Lt, Poling called his
house at a quarter to midnight and asked his wife why he wasn’t at work. He testified that his shift
started at midnight (Tr, 2047).

In addition, there was testimony from Officer Seresky that he had called the lieutenant at 6
am to ask if he had a relief for a Housing Unit post that morning. He testified he was yelled at and
asked why he didn’t call ten minutes earlier (Tr, 2048).

The prevailing attitude among supervisors at the institution may be summed up by the
testimony of Officer Chiglinsky who recalled that when he began his employment at FCI
Schuylkill, the lieutenant who taught his Institution Familiarization class “stressed the importance
of being a good relief” - “So it was vital that you were there beforehand.” (Tr, 1388)

The foregoing testimony, which is representative and not all-inclusive, was corroborated
by Lieutenants’ Logs showing the times of body alarm testing. Officer Seresky testified that when
working the Control Center on a morning watch shift, the lieutenant will usually be calling him up
by 6:00 or 6:30 requesting the log. He said the Heutenant will review the log Control had
prepared, add anything he wishes to add, print it out and place it in his binder (Tr, 2203). Officer
Seresky testified that the logs kept by Control, which were then included in the Lieutenant’s logs,
were consistent with the times Control performed body alarm testing(Tr, 2125-27). Officer
Seresky further testified that he attempts 1o get the body alarm tests started as soon as possible
because he knows “how important the radios are.” (Tr, 2124) He said he didn’t want a

correctional officer on post with a radio that didn’t work.
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The Lieutenant’s Daily Logs in evidence confirm that correctional officers are on post
prior to their shift time. Union Exhibit “HH” shows that for January 13, 2008 and January 17,
2008, body alarm tests for day watch Unit Officers commenced at 5:50 am; on February 10, 2008,
body alarm tests for day watch Unit Officers commenced at 5:51 am; and, on March 26, 2005,
body alarm testing for the evening watch shift commenced at 1:55 pm. Unien Exhibit “GG”
shows body alarm testing commencing generally about 10 minutes before the scheduled start of a
shift on 25 dates during 2004.

With respect to management’s defense, it is a stretch to say that the testing can include
both custody and non-custody staff. The evidence indicated that most non-custody staff worked a
day watch. The exhibits cited above covered day watch, evening watch and morning watch. In
addition, most ofUnioﬁ Exhibit “HH” specifically referred to Housing Unit Officers. Secondly, if
in fact the Control Center Officer were testing body alarms on day watch staff and reporting the
tests as having been performed on evening watch personnel in order to save time, such action
would be grossly negligent and improper because it could endanger the lives of the evening watch
staff. This theory is, I believe, nullified by Officer Seresky’s testimony which showed a genuine
concern for the safety of the officers. Finally, I reject the notion that the clocks in the Control
Center vary enough to make the entered times unreliable, nor was any logical explanation given
by management witnesses as to why there should be a great variance between the clocks in the
Contrel Center.

Management raises an excellent question when it asks, “If the employees truly were told to
arrive early, why do they all not arrive consistently at the same time?” This lends credence to
management’s argument that a lot depends on the individual employee and his or her habits. |

agree that this is true to some extent. For example, Officers Chiglinsky and Margetanski both
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testified about working the morning watch Camp #2 post. Officer Chiglinsky testified that he
arrived at the Control Center at approximately 11:50 pm (Tr, 1202-03). Officer Margetanski
testified that he arrived at the Camp at 11:40 pm to see if there was a Camp #2 evening watch
since that post was very often transferred elsewhere. The difference in starting times at that post
should not be attributed to management. However, it appears that many of the differences in
starting times are attributable to institution actions which take place at different times during the
day.

Officer Jacobs testified that as a Compound Officer, he arrived 15 minutes early for day
watch. Officer Seresky testified that for evening watch he arrived 30 minutes prior to the start of
his shift. But, when day watch ends at 2 pm, the Compound officers must be on the Compound
monitoring the 2 pm inmate education move (Tr, 659, 687-88, 2029). The need to assume
monitoring duties by a particular time could account for a particularly early start time. In fact, a
perusal of the video monitor times for Compound Officer #2 (AgEx “32") indicates that most
Compound #2 officers arrived before or shortly after 1:30 pm for their 2 pm shift, whereas
Compond #2 officers on the other shifts did not arrive quite as carly. Similarly, Officer Petch
testified that he arrived for day watch in the Control Center at 7:40-45 am, while Officer Seresky
testified that he arrived for a morning watch at 11:30 pm. The difference can be accounted for by
the fact the morning watch officer needs to begin his or her midnight count at midnight whereas
there is no count at 8 am. (Tr, 2041) In any event, variances in the pre and post-shift working
times of some posts do appear to be attributable to personal habits and management should not be
charged with the longer time period in those cases.

Management has argued that it took a pro-active approach to portal issues in order to

address them before they became a problem. At some point in time, the post orders were changed
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so that the SHU #1 Officer was no longer required to check in with the Lieutenant at the start of
his shift (Tr, 1006). Officer Gottshall testified this made a five minute difference so he would
arrive at the Control Center at 5:50 am rather than 5:45 (Tr, 1007). This was a good effort by
management to save on labor costs and will be recognized, infra, in the post by post analysis. On
July 26, 2007, management placed a battery charger at the Camp so that Camp officers (and
possibly OP officers) no longer had to pick up fresh batteries at the Control Center. The union, in
its brief, acknowledged a 7.5 minute difference, in its claim for the Camp #1 Officer. Again,
management made a sound effort here to save on labor costs. A full analysis will be made, infra.
In other instances, the management moves to streamline the process, did not work as well,
Captain Matevousian testified about moving “all the equipment from the Control Center” to the
Housing Units in order to avoid having officers stop at the Control Center (Tr, 2939). However,

officers still needed to pick up fresh batteries at the Control Center. Captain Matevousian also

testified about installing computers on one side of the Housing Units - but acknowledged, “. . .a

lot of the information that we disseminated to the staff was electronic, resulting in_less need for

them checking their mailboxes.”(emphasis supplied)(Tr, 2939) Apparently, there still was a need

for Housing Unit Officers to check their mailboxes. Likewise, OP trucks were staggered in the

first quarter of 2007 by 15 minutes on their relief so that one truck could remain mobile while the

other conducted a relief, most notably with the counting of ammunition. Lt. Chmely testified that
Captain Bebow had determined, after consultation with somebody, that “the reasonable amount of
time is normally perceived to be approximately 15 minutes in order to accomplish the accounting
for all the ammunition.” (Tr, 3232) The union concedes that the change made a 10 minute

difference for the second officer to arrive to perform relief, and the change therefore made some

difference in saving labor costs. I note, however, that the recognition by management that a
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reasonable time for counting ammunition is 15 minutes, supports the OP officers’ general claim
for pre and post-shift work.

Management’s argument that officers have been compensated in other ways (e.g. mandate
list) for pre and post-shift work is misplaced. The FLSA requires “compensation . . .at a rate not
Jess than one and one-half times the regular rate at which [the employee] is employed.” (29 U.S.C.
§ 207 (a)(1)) “Regular rate” is defined as “remuneration.” (29 U.S.C. § 207(e)). Any form of
compensation other than monetary compensation is outside the statute.

I reject management’s request that all of Officer Jacobs’ testimony be rejected because of
his testimony with regard to the times between locations at the prisoﬁ clocked by Counsel for the
union (UnEx “PP”). A fair assessment of Officer Jacobs® testimony is that he did not try to
deceive - he was simply used to introduce evidence compiled by Union Counsel. In retrospect, it
was not an artful way of introducing the evidence but it was not misleading. Union Counsel is an
officer of the court and I credit her calculations. I further reject management’s contention that
because the Union Brief does not mention the testimony of Agency witnesses, such testimony
should be deemed undisputed. There is no duty imposed upon either side to comment on the

testimony of witnesses called by the opposing party, and no adverse inference should be drawn

because of a failure to do so.

I also find that because pre and/or post shift work was not accounted for by the Agency’s
record keeping procedures, the union may, through testimenial evidence, show the amount and

extent of that work by a preponderance of the credible evidence (Anderson v. Mt. Clemens

Pottery Co., supra; Del.eon v. Trevino, supra). The burden shall then be on management to prove

the precise amount of work performed or to negative the reasonableness of the inference to be

drawn from the employee’s evidence.
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As for management’s cJaim that the unjon’s case was tainted by leading questions, I would |
point out that I did sustain a number of objections to questions which I determined to be leading
particularly when I believed they were suggestive as well. T would remind management that legal
rules restricting the admission of evidence are not strictly applicable in an arbitration hearing. As

stated in Elkouri and Elkouri, How Arbitration Works, 6™ Edition, at 345-46:

“The inapplicability of the legal rules restricting the admission of evidence results in the
parties being given a free hand to present any type of evidence thought to strengthen and
clarify their case. Indeed, it has been observed that “the more serious danger is not that the
arbitrator will hear too much irrelevancy, but rather that he will not hear enou gh of the

relevant.

In fact, the liberal reception of evidence is not as extreme a departure from traditional
Judicial practice as many persons might believe. Judges who are trying cases without a jury
typically receive evidence very freely, on the basis that they can determine its weight and
relevancy after the entire case has been presented.”

Finally, with regard to the video footage, I credit Captain Bebow’s testimony that the five
dates selected were chosen at random (Tr, 2901). While the tapes cover only five days over a
period of five plus or six plus years, I believe they are, as Counsel for the Agency puf it, a helpful
tool in evaluating the claims made by the union.

SPECIFIC POSTS AND OTHER CLAIMS

Activities Officer

Curiously, the Agency argues that “any recovery must be limited to the PM shift only as
there was no testimony regarding the AM shift.” (AgBr, 28, n.3) In fact, the evidence established
that this post had a day watch (6 am to 2 pm) and an evening watch (2 pm to 10 pm), but not a
morning (AM) watch. Therefore, it must be assumed that management is referring to the evening
watch which it calls “PM shift” and the day watch which it calls “AM shift.”

Officer Quirk’s testimony about arriving for the evening watch 10 to 15 minutes prior to

his shift was undisputed. In fact, Lt. Chmely’s testimony that he wrote the post orders to require
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the day watch to go 10 the Control Center to meet their relief at 10 minutes to 2 pm serves to
confirm Quirk’s testimony about his arrival time. Officer Quirk’s testimony about his departure
time from the Control Center at 10 pm was undisputed. T therefore credit Officer Quirk’s
testimony that he performed pre-shift work of 10 o 15 minutes. The mean amount of pre-shift
work spent was 12.5 minutes, and I find that the evening watch officer serving as Activities
Officer should be granted compensation for that amount for each shift worked.

As for the day watch officer, the only testimony offered was that of Lt. Chmely who
denied that any pre or post-shift work was performed. The union offered no testimony that the
duties of the day watch officer took the same amount of time as that of the evening watch officer.
Hence, there is no award of compensation for the day watch Activities Officer.

Camp Officers

Both Officer Chiglinski and Officer Margetanski testified that prior to the installation of a
battery charger at the Camp on July 26, 2007, they would report to the Control Center before their
shifts to draw fresh radio batteries when working Camp Officer #1 - Chiglinski arrived 10 minutes
carly at the Control Center and Margetanski arrived 20 minutes carly. Chiglinsky testified that the
relief process then took another 10 to 15 minutes, while Margetanski’s numbers came out to 15 10
20 minutes,

Their testimony with regard to pre and post-shift duty at the Camp is seriously undermined
by the fact that on none of the video footage, comprising five days during the period April 10,
2007 through June 5, 2007 - a period before the battery charger was installed at the Camp - does
any Camp Officer enter the institution. Given this evidence, I am obliged to credit the testimony
of Lt. Chmely that the shift exchange at the Camp is “one of the easiest” which takes “about as

long as it takes to take the radio out and hand it to the other person and give them the key.” (Tr,
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2774-75). This is a situation where, in the language of Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co..

supra, the employer has come forward with evidence to negative the reasonableness of the
inference to be drawn from the employee’s evidence. In view of the foregoing, there is no award
of FL.SA compensation for Camp officers.

Camp Visiting Room

Officer Chiglinsky testified that when working this post, he would arrive at the Control
Center at 7:45 am to draw al] keys and equipment, then drive to the Camp, arriving there at 8 am.
He then testified that he did various paperwork and searched the visiting areas. He said the search
took 15 to 20 minutes. Officer Chiglinsky testified he would complete those activities by 8:20 to
8:25 and open for visitors at 8:30 am. On the other end, he testified that all visitors would have
departed by 3:35 pm and he would search the inmates, which could take as long as 20-25 minutes.
His testimony was that he departed the Control Center right before 4:10.

During the course of the hearings, I was given a tour of FCI Schuylkill by both parties. I
find it hard to believe that it would take anybody 15 minutes to draw equipment at the Control
Center and drive to the Camp. The drive itself would take no more than five minutes. Depending
on how much time was spent in the Control Center, the pick-up of equipment at that location and
the drive to the Camp should take no more than ten minutes. At the Camp, I noted that the visiting
area was rather small, so the search time testified to by Officer Chiglinsky seems excessive. My
observations indicate that the unjon has failed to establish a need for the Camp Visiting Officer to
arrive at the institution prior to the shift starting time. In that regard, I credit the testimony of Lt,
Chmely. I also find it incredible that the Camp Visiting Officer would work a total of 25 minutes
pre and post-shift, while the claim for Visiting Room Officers - who have much more stringent

search duties (e.g. they must perform a fence search, they search a larger visiting area, and they
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must strip search all inmates, as opposed to the pat downs permitted in Camp Visiting) - is 17.5
minutes, Assuming arguendo that the Camp Visiting Officer leaves for the day just prior to 4:10
pm, I find the total of his pre and post-shift minutes to be less than 10, and hence de minimis.
Furthermore, I credit Lt. Chmely’s testimony that he has often seen Camp Visiting Officers in the
Heutenant’s office well before 4 o’clock. This is not a post which has proven an FLSA claim.
Compound Officers

Officer Jacobs testified that his pre-shift duties on day watch amounted to 15 minutes and
included various tasks at the Control Center which, together with his walk to the shakedown
shack took about five minutes. He described a nine to ten minute relief which included
inventorying numerous items of equipment, checking an X-ray machine and metal detector, and
exchanging information. Officer Seresky testified that he arrived for the evening watch 30 minutes
early, performed his duties at the Control Center, arrived at the shakedown shack 10 to 15 minutes
later (1:40-1:45), and performed a 10 minute relief (1:50-1:55) which enabled the officer he was
relieving to depart between 1:50 and 2 pm (the numbers fail to add up perfectly). In sum, Officer
Jacobs® pre-shift duties took 15 minutes, while Officer Seresky’s took between 20 and 25 minutes,
viewed conservatively.

Officer Jacobs testified that the officer he would relieve left the institution between 5 and
7 minutes after the hour, after turning in his battery at the Control Center. Officer Seresky testified
that he performed no post-shift work since he left the compound about 9:55 and took 3-4 minutes
to get to the Control Center.

The video footage for Compound Officers shows that on no fewer than nine occasions, the
officers worked in excess of 8 hours and 10 minutes, with 8 hours and 19 minutes having been

worked on two occasions. The footage consistently shows Compound Officers arriving for work
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before their shifts, with a range of 8 to 33 minutes. Because the five days of footage does not
purport to be a definitive record of the five or six years at issue in this grievance, it is treated
strictly as a tool with which to gauge the testimony and exhibits adduced by the parties. In that
light, it tends to confirm that (1) Compound Officers tend to perform pre-shift work, and (2)
Compound Officers work in excess of 10 minutes a day overtime a fair amount of the time.

Because Officer Seresky’s calculations did not add up, whereas Officer Jacobs was certain
as to the time involved with his pre-shift work, I find that Compound Officers should be awarded
15 minutes of pre-shift damages. In view of Officer Seresky’s testimony that he performed no
post-shift work, no award is made for post-shift work. In fact, the video footage shows very little
post shift work performed by Compound Oficers.

During the second quarter of 2007, the Compound Officers were directed to make their
reliefs at the Control Center. Officer Jacobs testified that during this period he would come in five
minutes before his shift and leave “a little bit earlier.” This would reduce his pre-shift work by ten
minutes, and result in only five minutes pre-shift work. That amount is de minimis and no
compensation may be awarded for that quarter.

Control Center

Officer Petch testified that for a day watch, he arrived at the Control Center between 7:40
and 7:45 am when working Control #1. For a morning watch he arrived at 11:40 to 11:45 pm.
Officer Seresky testified that for a morning watch he arrived at 7:30 (this was an obvious slip of
the tongue because the morning watch commenced at midnight - [ take his testimony to mean that
he arrived 30 minutes before the starting time of his shift, or 11:30 pm).

Officer Petch testified that he left the Control Center at 4:05 1o 4:07 pm. That would mean

be had worked 15 to 20 minutes pre-shift and 5 to 7 minutes post-shift for a total of 20 to 27
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uncompensated minutes per shift. Officer Seresky testified that his relief arrived at 7:30 am and he
departed the Control Center at 7:55 or 8:00 am. So in his case he testified to working 30 minutes
pre-shift and minus five minutes 1o no post-shift work for a total of 25 to 30 minutes
uncompensated work.

With respect to the Control Center #2 post, Officer Seresky testified that he would report
at 5:30 am to assist the Control Center #1 Officer. He testified that his relief arrived at 1:40 pm
and he was able to leave the institution at 1:50 to 1:55 pm. When working evening watch, Officer
Seresky arrived at 1:30 pm and departed at his shift ending time of 10 pm because there is no
relief at that time for the Control Center #2 Officer. Officer Seresky further testified that within
the last year, the day watch shift hours for the Control Center #2 Officer have been changed to
5:45-1:45 in recognition of the many duties required just prior to 6 am - the evening watch hours
have correspondingly changed to 1:45-9:45. In sum, Officer Seresky testified to 20 to 30 minutes
work prior to the change in shifts. The union seeks 30 minutes compensation for day watch prior
to the change, 15 minutes for day watch since the change, and 30 minutes for evening watch both
before and after the change.

The video footage tends to support the employees’ claims with regard to the Control
Center Officer #1 post. Twelve shifts were captured in total (three shifts had only ending times).
Of those twelve shifts, in ten cases the Control Center #1 Officers worked in excess of ten
minutes beyond their eight hour shifis. The Iongest shift filmed was § hours and 28 minutes. The
average was in the range of 8 hours 15 minutes to 8 hours 20 minutes. The videos indicate there
was some exaggeration in the testimony of Officers Petch and Seresky, but not much. I credit the

lower end of Cfficer Petch’s estimate and find that Control Center #1 Officers should be credited

20 minutes compensation per shift,
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There was very little video footage of the Control Center #2 Officers. The fact the shifts
were changed by management is a good indication that the Agency believed those officers were
needed 15 minutes earlier than their previous shift to assist the Control Center #1 Officer. I credit
Officer Seresky’s estimate of 20 minutes compensable time for éay watch and have applied the
same period of time to evening watch because there was no credible evidence to explain why the
Control #2 Officer would work more time on the latter watch. After the shift change was made,

Control Center #2 Officers would have performed 15 minutes less compensable time and thus

come within the de minimis rule. Therefore, the award of 20 minutes per shift does not extend to
the period after the shift change.

Count Officer

Officer Archer testified that he reported for duty at the Control Center at 11:40-45 pm,
picked up his keys and radio and called the Lieutenant at 1 1:30 to find out where he was assisting
with the count. He testified that most of the time the count started “on the dot™ at midnight. He
testified that he left at 8 am. | |

As in the case of the Control Center #2 Officers the amount of video footage was
extremely sparse with regard to this post. Only two complete shifis were filmed - in one instance
the Count Officer worked 27 pre-shift minutes and left 8 minutes early working a midnight to 8
am shift for a total of 19 minutes uncompensated time; and, in the second case, the officer arrived
one minute late (at 10:01 pm - it is not clear why that shift differed from the midnight to 8 am
shift - and left 12 minutes early). The video footage was not helpful with this post.

I eredit Officer Archer’s testimony but I question why it would take him 10 minutes in the

Control Center before he could call the Lieutenant, Therefore, I find that he (and Count Officers)

spent 15 minutes pre-shift time on each of their shifts and should be compensated for that amount.
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Front Lobby

Officer Bickelman testified that he reperted to the Control Center 15 to 20 minutes prior to
his shift so that he would be ready to admit contractors and contract employees at 6 am. He
acknowledged that someone would relieve him at 1:50-55 pm so the Jobby could be kept open
until 4:00. However, he testified that he generally left his post at 2:05-10.

While there was very litile footage of the Front Lobby Officer, it was remarkably
consistent. On April 10, 2007, the Front Lobby Cfficer entered the institution at 5:56 am and
departed at 1:43 pm. On April 11, 2007, the actual post hours ran from 5:54 am to 1:50 pm. On
May 14, 2007, the actual hours were 5:49 am to 1:53 pm. On May 24, 2007 the actual hours were
5:42 amto 1:45 pm. On June §, 2007, the actual hours were 5:54 am to 1:55 pm. I find the
foregoing to be a fair sampling, and it showed that on the first two enumerated dates, the Front
Lobby Officer worked less than 8 hours, while the last t}ﬁee dates varied from 8 hours, 1 minute
to 8 hours, 4 minutes. I find that the video footage discredited the union’s testimony about pre and
post-shift hours worked, and that there should be no award of FLSA compensation to the Front
Lobby Officer.

Housing Units

1. Beginning of Recovery Period Unti} End of 1* Quarter, 2005

Officer Chiglinsky testified that he arrived at the Control Center 10-15 minutes prior to the
beginning of his shift, and would be on post on the hour. He testified that he left the Control
Center 10-15 minutes afler the scheduled shift end and departed the institution. Thus, his claimed
compensable time was 20-30 minutes per shift.

Officer McIllwain testified that he arrived at the Control Center 15 minutes before his shift

and left the Control Center a little bit after the end of his shift - 5 minutes after the hour at the

98




most. Therefore, his claimed compensable time was Jargely 15 minutes, and 20 minutes “at the

most.”

The walking times calculated by the respective parties are usefu] in determining the

compensable time earned by Housing Unit Officers. Agency Exhibit “33" shows a walking time
of 3 minutes, 50 seconds from the Control Center to one of the Housing Units (Unit 3A). Union
Exhibit “PP” indicates that it takes 1 minute, 20 seconds to get from the first door of the Control
Center sally port (which leads into the Control Center from the Administration Building) to the

second sally port (which leads to the compound). Even assumning that an employee’s work day has

not commenced the moment he or she walks from the Administration Building into the Control

Center, one would expect that the picking up of a battery, the turning of chits, and the check for a

detail pouch, followed by the entrance through the second sally port on to the compound would
take on the order of I minute, 20 seconds. Jt follows that the trip from the Control Center, after the
Housing Unit Officer completes his or her business there, to the assigned Housing Unit takes
about 5 minutes, or 10 minutes round trip.

Officer Chiglinsky testified that the exchange of equipment and information between the
officers took 5-10 minutes. Former Captain Matevousian testified the exchange took one to two
minutes while Lt. Clmely testified it took a couple of minutes. The range of compensable time
thus varies from 11 minutes to 20 minutes, I find that there was some exaggeration by the
witnesses for both sides, and conclude that 15 minutes compensable time should be awarded per

shift for Housing Unit Officers in this category. I note that finding largely comports with the

testimony of Officer McIllwain as well,
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2. Second Quarter, 2005 Through Second Quarter, 2006
(a) A-side

The evidence was undisputed that the removal of the B-side watch officer from the
morning watch had no effect on the amount of pre and post-shift work for the A-side post.
Therefore 15 minutes compensable time is awarded for this period.
(b) B-side

The only non-confused testimony about this period came from Officer Seresky who
testified about working a midnight to 8 am morning watch shift. However, there was no B-side
morning watch shift during this period. Although the union failed to present evidence of
compensable time for B-side Housing Unit Officers during this period, I note that the walking
time described above would stjl apply, the day watch B-side officer would still need 1o be briefed,
this time by the A-side officer, and the evening watch B-side officer would still have a relief.
Under the circumstances, 15 minutes compensable time is awarded to B-side officers on day
watch. Evening watch B-side officers were given additional time on their shifts to secure their
area and depart their Housing Units in Specific Post Orders dated April 25, 2005. Those post
orders provide that the evening watch B-side officers can secure their area and head to the Control
Center as of 11:50 pm. Although this 10 minute dispensation does not necessarily mean that 10
minutes should be deducted from compensable time, because part of the time may be taken up
with securing the officer’s area, on average it appears to have lowered the pre and/or post shift
time worked to less than ten minutes, For example, the videos show that on April 10, 2007, an
evening watch B-side officer worked 8 hours, 3 minutes; on Apri] 11, 2007, an officer worked 8
2007, one officer worked 8 hours, 7 minutes, while another worked

hours, 6 minutes; on May 14,
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& hours, 9 minutes; on May 24, 2007, an officer worked 8 hours, 2 minutes; and, on June 5, 2007,
two officers each worked 8 hours, 7 minutes, while a third worked 8 hours, 9 minutes. (While
taken two years after the period at issue, the videos cover the same shift time and the same post
orders as those in effect in 2005-06.) Therefore, under the de minimis rule, no award is made to
cvening watch B-side officers for the period in question.

3. Third Quarter, 2006 Through the Present
(a) A-Side Day Watch

In the Third Quarter, 2006 the B-side watch stayed at 8 am-4 pm and 4 pm-midnight while
the A-side watch shifted back to the pre-Third Quarter, 2005 shifts of 10 pm-6 am, 6 am-2 pm and
2 pm-midnight. Officer Chiglinsky testified that the change meant that when the A-side officer
arrives for the 6 am post, he is responsible for both the A and B sides of the Housing Unit until 8
am, when the day watch B-side officer’s shift begins. He testified that the A-side day watch
officer now had to account for twice the equipment, because in addition to the A-side equipment, .
he had to account for the B-side equipment as well; and, he had to be briefed not only on what
was happening on the A-side, but what was happening on the B-side as well. Officer Chiglinsky
testified that an additional 5-10 minutes was required for the day watch A-side officer.

The video evidence for this watch varied from 7 hours, 58 minutes to § hours, 19 minutes.
I'find there was sufficient corroboration in the videos to justify compensation of 19 minutes pre
and/or post shift time for this post.
(b) A-Side Evening and Morning Watches

The video evidence for these two watches indicated they were two of the hardest working
posts in the entire institution. Averaging the times worked by the A-side evening watch (after

throwing out cne shift of less than 8 hours, which appeared to be an anomaly ), T calculated an
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average daily working time of 8 hours, 20.84 minutes. Likewise, where video was available for
full morning watch A-side shifis (referred to as A-B shifis because of the absence of a B-side
morning watch officer) the average daily working time was 8 hours, 21.125 minutes. Both posts
are awarded 21 minutes per shift compensable time for the period in question.
( ¢) B-Side

Officers Chiglinsky and McIllwain testified that their compensable time amounted to 20
and 15 minutes respectively. The video footage showed a substantial amount of compensable time
for B-side officers working the day watch. A total of 12 complete shifis were documented. One
was less than 8 hours, and I have discarded that as an anomaly. Of the remaining 11 shifts,

employees worked in excess of 8 hours, 10 minutes on 6 occasions ( with 2 maximum of 8 hours,
17 minutes); and, on two occasions, 8 hours, 10 minutes were clocked. So on 8 of the 11 shifts,

the footage showed emplovees working at least 8 hours, 10 minutes. (I am mindful of the fact that

the de minimis rule requires work in excess of 8 hours, 10 minutes. However, the videos were not

broken down into minutes and seconds, so a showing on the videos of 8 hours, 10 minutes is, in

my view, sufficient evidence since the true time might have been 8 hours, 10 minutes, 1 or more
seconds.) Fifteen minutes compensable time should be awarded to day watch B-side officers
based on the testimony of Officers Chiglinsky and Mclllwzin and the video evidence.

For the reasons stated previously with regard to B-side officers working the evening watch

during the period, second quarter 2005 through second quarter 2006, no award of compensation is

made.

Outside Perimeter

Officer Quirk testified that he reported to the Control Center 15 minutes before the start of

his shift to pick up a freshly charged battery and commence his work. He testified that he was then
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picked up by the OP truck five minutes before the start of his shift and driven to the clearing
barrel where ammunition and other equipment were inventeried. He testified that at the end of a
shift, the departing OP Officer would be dropped off at the front of the institution 15-20 minutes
afier the shift stopping time. He subsequently testified that he left approximately 15 minutes after
the end of his shift. Therefore, 15 minutes pre-shift work is claimed and 15 minutes post-shift
work is claimed as well. Because Officer Quirk testified that prior to the 15 minute staggering of
shifts in the first quarter of 2007, the second officer to arrive would have to wait for the first
officer to count the ammunition, and would leave upwards of 25 minutes after the shift ended, the
claim for the second officer to arrive prior to 1% quarter, 2007, is 15 minutes pre-shift and 25
minutes post-shift work

I reject management testimony that the OP relief tock 2-3 or 3-5 minutes. T credit Lt.
Chmely’s testimony that 15 minutes is normally perceived to be the reasonable amount of time to
account for all ammunition. The fact the shifts were staggered in 2007 by 15 minutes is virtually
an admission of this fact by management. Therefore, the claim of 15 minutes post-shift work is
borne out by the evidence. I also credit Officer Quirk’s testimony that the second officer to arrive
prior to the 1% quarter of 2007 had 25 minutes post-shift work because of the need to wait for
access to the clearing barrel.

I have difficulty with the claim for pre-shift work because out of ten shifts filmed in
Agency Exhibit 32, enly two OP officers entered the institution before their shifts. On April 11,
2007, Officer Malarkey entered five minutes before his shift; and, on May 24, 2007, Officer Hart
entered 34 minutes before his shift! It is quite possible that OP officers are now obtaining freshly
charged batteries at the Camp, but the video evidence predates the installation of a battery charger

at the Camp. Because it appears that pre-shift work by OP officers was not undertaken on a

103




LS

regular basis, the compensable time should be for post-shift work only,
Rear Gate

Officer Evans” testimony was that this post worked ]“5 minutes pre-shift and no time post-
shift. The video footage confirmed that the Rear Gate Officer arrived before the 8 am start time of
the shift (anywhere from 7:33 to 7:43), but also showed the Rear Gate Officer leaving the
institution before the 4 pm shift ending time. The times worked ranged from 8 hours, 2 minutes to
8 hours, 19 minutes. Three of the five shifts captured on camera were for less than 8 hours, 10
minutes. One was for exactly 8 hours, 10 minutes. Then there was the 8 hour, 19 minute shift,
where the Rear gate Officer arrived at 7:33 am.

Even assuming Officer Evans® testimony about needing to arrive at the Lieutenant’s Office
at 7:45 am was valid (and this was hotly contested by the testimony of Lt. Chmely), it would not
explain why the officers in the video evidence arrived two to twelve minutes earlier. If a 7:45 start
time is coupled with the departure times shown on video, the times worked would have been (a) 8
hours, (b) 7 minutes, 59 minutes, (<) 8 hours, 2 minutes, and (d) 8 hours, 7 minutes on two
oceasions. In view of the foregoing, any time worked in excess of 8 hours by the Rear Gate

Officer is de minimis and shall not be compensated.

Reception

Officer Munson testified that he reported to the Control Center at 7:45 am, and arrived at
the front Jobby at 7:55 am. He acknowledged the front lobby was already open at that time. His
response, when asked if he could have come in later than 7:45 and still been on post by 8 am was,
“T'don’t know.” Officer Munson testified that he locked the front door at 4:30 pm, and dropped

his equipment off at the Control Center between 4:35 and 4:40 pm.

I credit Lt. Chmely’s assessment that there was no reason the Reception Officer needed to
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arrive in the front lobby prior to § am, in large part because it was already manned. I cannot
believe the Reception Officer would be unable to check out a radio, keys and badges from the
Control Center in less than five minutes and walk the short distance from the Control Center to
the front Jobby. Likewise, one would expect that the front door could be locked and the same
equipment could be returned to the Control Center in less than five minutes. In my view, any

working time by this post in excess of § hours would be de minimis, and therefore no

compensation is awarded.

Recreation Officer

Officer Shaup testified that he started his shift at the Control Center at 5:40-5:45 am and
proceededlﬁ.;o the recreation area which had to be thoroughly searched (including the entire fence
line around the outdoor recreation area} and be ready 1o be opened by 6 am. I credit Officer
Shaup’s testimony that his supervisors insisted and placed pressure on him to open the recreation
area by 6 am. Therefore, I find that this post required 15-20 minutes pre-shift work.

Officer Shaup further testified that he left the recreation area at 2 pm, turned in his
equipment at the Control Center at 2:05-06 pm, and left the institution. This tends to comport with
Union Exhibit “PP” which shows a walking time of 3 minutes, 1 second to the Chapel. The
recreation area is further from the Control Center than the Chapel. Thus, I find five to six minutes
of post-shift work by the Recreation Officer. The total compensable work for this post therefore
varied between 20 and 26 minutes. Under the circumstances, a compensable award of 23 minutes
is appropriate.

Reservation Patrol

Officer Quirk testified to 15 minutes of pre-shift work with regard to this post, largely

consisting of accounting for 45 rounds for a 9 mm handgun in a clearing barrel, inventorying other
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equipment, and inspecting a truck for damage. He was not, however, sure if he ever worked the
post during the period of the grievance. Lt. Chmely disputed the need to arrive for this post at 7:45
am because visiting did not commence until 8:30 am. I credit Lt. Chmely’s testimony especially
since the officers on the OP trucks had even more ammunition to count and could do so in 15
minutes. Therefore, 8 am to 8:30 would have been plenty of time to perform the pre-visiting
duties described before visiting hours commenced. In addition, the testimonial evidence in support
of compensation is suspect because Officer Quirk did not know if he even worked this post during
the period of the grievance. There should be no recovery for this post.

Special Housing Unit (SHU)

1. SHU #1

Officer Gottshall testified that he would report for duty at the Control Center 15 minutes
before his shift starting time. He testified that he walked to the Lieutenant’s Office to check in and
arrived at the SHU five minutes before his shift. Officer Gottshall testified that the relief would
take 5-10 minutes; and, that at the close of his shift, the same time limits would apply so that he
would be leaving the Control Center between the end of his shift stopping time and five minutes
after. He testified that when the post orders were changed so that he no longer had to check into
the Lieutenant’s Office, he arrived 10 minutes before the start of his shift. It appears that this
change in the Specific Post Orders for the SHU #1 Officer took place on March 8, 2006.(JtEx
“6"). Thus, Officer Gottshall’s testimony was that he worked 15 minutes pre-shift before the
change in the post orders, and 10 minutes pre-shift thereafter; and, that he worked 0-5 minutes
post-shift for a total compensable time of (a) 15-20 minutes before the post orders change, and (b)

10-15 minutes after the change.

The video evidence for the SHU #] (which was taken afier the change in the post orders)
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shows that out of a total of 12 shifts, six were worked in excess of § hours, 10 minutes; two were
clocked at exactly 8 hours, 10 minutes; three were between 8 hours and § hours, 10 minutes; and,
one was less than 8 hours. In summary, 8 out of the 12 shifis were worked 8 hours, 10 minutes or
more (including shifts exceeding 8 hours by 28 minutes, 22 minutes, and 17 minutes). The video
evidence tends to corroborate Officer Gottshall’s testimony. Therefore, I find compensable time
before the change in the post orders of 16 minutes per shift, and compensable time after the
change of 11 minutes per shift.

2. SHU #2, #3, #4 and SHU Recreation and Property

Officer Gottshall’s testimony with regard to the SHU #2, 3 and 4 Officers and the SHU
Recreation and Property Officer was that they would arrive at the Control Center 15 minutes
before their shift starting time and depart from the Control Center five minutes after the end of
their shift. In 2006, there was a change in the post orders which required these officers to depart
the SHU for the Control Center 10 minutes prior to the end of their shifts. Officer Gottshall
testified thét the change made no difference because 90% of the time, inmates were still out of
their cells 10 minutes before the scheduled shift end, and therefore the SHU #2,#3 and #4
Officers could not leave.

The video evidence shows otherwise. In most cases, these officers left the institution
before the end of their shifts. Out of a total of 24 shifts where the entire starting and ending times
were recorded (as opposed to partial times), four officers worked less than 8 hours, 14 worked 8
hours to less than 8 hours, 10 minutes, and six officers worked more than 8 hours, 10 minutes.
Thus 18 out of 24 shifts were worked a de minimis amount. This may be due to the change in the
post orders and no compensable time may be awarded for the period subsequent to the change in

the post orders. Management has “negatived” the reasonableness of the inference to be drawn
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from the employees’ evidence. It would be speculative on my part to make a pre-pest order
change award, especially since Officer Gottshall’s testimony was that the change made no
difference 90% of the time. Therefore, no award of compensable time is made to the SHU #2, #3,
#4 and SHU Recreation and Property Officers.
Visiting Room

Officer Archer testified that he reported to the Control Center between a half hour and 15
minutes before his shift starting time. He testified that the required searches, including the one
mile long fence around the institution, were performed by himself and one or two other officers,
and the officers would be ready to take visitors by 8:25-8:30 am. At the close of visiting, the
officers” equipment was turned in at the Control Center between 3:55 and 4:00 pm.

Lt. Chmely disputed this testimeny, stating that at the end of their shift, he usually saw the

Visiting Room Officers in the Jobby between 3:30 and 3:45 pm. He testified that he usually let

them leave early when they finished before 4 pm.

Only two days of video footage showed the working times of Visiting Room Officers,
which is too small a sample for serious comparison with the testimony. Because the union’s
testimony with respect to Visiting Room Officers conceded that the post was finished working
prior to the end of the scheduled shift, I credit Lt. Chmely’s testimony about the early completion
times for these officers. His testimony, coupled with the starting time alleged by Officer Archer
(and no persuasive reason was given for starting a half hour carly so I find the reporting time was
more like 15 minutes before the hour) leads me to a finding that less than 8 hours, 10 minutes
work was being performed by these officers. (See also Agency Exhibits “32C” and “32D” which,
while a very tiny sample, are remarkable in showing all but one of the Visiting Room Officers

Jeaving the institution at 3:46 pm on both days.) Compensation under the FLSA is denied for this
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post.

Visiting Escort

No video footage was available for this post which was abolished in March, 2005. Officer
Munson testified that he walked with visitors from the front lobby to the visiting room and back,
and that he arrived at the Control Center at 7:45 am. Officer Munson testified that he dropped off
his equipment at the Control Center at 3:55 pm but would not depart the institution until 4 pm.

While Officer Munson’s testimony, for himself as an individual, was believable, the post
was an adjunct to the Visiting Room Officer posts. For the reasons stated above with regard to
Visiting Room Officers, no compensation under the FLSA is awarded.

Non-Custody Staff Working Custody Posts

The evidence established that when non-correctional officers were required to perform

custody posts, they worked at least the same pre and post-shift work performed by correctional

officers working those posts. Indeed, the evidence indicated that they worked more pre and post-

shift time than regular correctional officers because (1) they needed to confer with a lieutenant
about exactly where they would be working, (2) if they were unfamiliar with the post they needed

to read the post orders, and (3) they tended to take longer on relief because they were often

unfamiliar with the post.

While this is an area which is difficult to quantify, I find that non-custody staff working
correctional officer posts should receive five minutes additional compensation for each shift spent
working posts which have been awarded FLSA compensation.

Posted Picture File

The evidence established that with the exception of the Count Officer and the Compound

Officer, both of whom worked in close proximity to the Lieutenant’s Office, correctional officers
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were obliged to review the PPF pre-shift or post-shift once a month. While management argues
that most of the officers acknowledged they had reviewed the PPF during their shift “at least on
occasion” (AgRepBr, 37), a fair review of the testimony indicates that during the overwhelming
period of time, the officers were unable to secure reliefs during their shifts in order to review the
PPF. Management witnesses confirmed the presence of correctional officers in the Lieutenant’s
Office reviewing the PPF. Former Captain Matevousian equivocated when he testified: “They
may have viewed it during that time frame [i.e. prior to the start of their shifts].” (emphasis
supplied)(Tr, 2963) Former Captain Bebow could not recall if anybody was relieved so they could
review the PPF. Captain Taggart testified: “A lot - - some reviewed it in the lieutenant’s office.”
(Tr, 2611) While he said the PPF could be taken into the Housing Units if they were secured, he
acknowledged they were secured only from 10 pm until 6 am. Lt. Chmely conceded having seen
personnel in the lieutenant’s office reviewing the PPF.

The union witnesses testified unequivocally about using pre and post-shift time to review
the PPF. The amount of time needed ranged from a low of 5-10 minutes to a high of 15-30
minutes. The average time was 14.75 minutes. I find that all correctional posts, with the exception
of Count Officer and Compound Officer, should be awarded 14.75 minutes per month as
compensation for reviewing the PPF.

Emergencies Before and After Shift

There was one final claim presented, for time spent by correctional officers responding to
emergencies which occurred before and after one’s shift. Counsel for the Agency has referred to
the evidence with respect to this issue as being “vague at best.” (AgRepBr, 35) I find that the
evidence regarding this issue is impossible to quantify. In some such cases, the testimony of the

officers was that they did not let anyone know they were responding on their own time (Tr, 935-
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36, 1062), or they had no specific recollection of incidents (Tr, 1504), or no specific recollection

of dates or times (T, 2236), or they were, in fact, compensated (Tr, 1158, 1502-03). I note that in

(he Union Brief, no specific time claim is made for cuch emergencies (UnBr, 125-26). Nor is any

award made therefor.

Miscellaneous
The union has requested that I retain jurisdiction until the issue of damages (including

whether liquidated damages are warranted, whether the recovery period should extend to 2002 or

2003, and regarding the issue of attorneys’ fees and costs) is resolved (UnBr, 126). Althoughl

understand the damages portion of this grievance has been bifurcated, I will retain jurisdiction

because of my familiarity with this complex case and will be happy to render whatever assistance

1 can to the parties in the future.

AWARD

The grievance is sustained in part and denied in part as follows:

1. The grievance is arbitrable and is pot barred for either of the reasons advanced by management.

2. Compensable time under the FLSA, ora denial thereof, is as follows with respect to the various

posts and claims:

a) Activities Officer: 12.5 minutes per shift for the evening watch officer.
No award for the day watch officer.

b) Camp Officers: No award.
¢) Camp Visiting Room: No award.

d) Compound Officers: 15 minutes per chift with the exception of 2™ Quarter, 2007.
No award for 2™ Quarter, 2007.

¢) Control Center #1 Officer: 20 minutes per shift.

f) Control Center #2 Officer: 20 minutes per shift through 2°¢ Quarter, 2007.
No award after 2" Quarter, 2007.
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g) Count Officer: 15 minutes per shift.

h) Front Lobby: No award.

i) Housing Units: Start of recovery period through 1% Quarter, 2005 - 15 minutes per shift.

2™ Quarter, 2005 Through 2 Quarter, 2006: A-side - 15 minutes per shift.
B-side (day watch) - 15 minutes per shift.
B-side (evening watch) - No award.

3% Quarter, 2006 Through Present: A-side (day watch) - 19 minutes per shift.
A-side (evening/morning watches) - 21 minutes per
shift.

B-side (day watch) - 15 minutes per shift.
B-side (evening watch) - No award.

j) Outside Perimeter: 15 minutes per shift.
25 minutes per shift for the o o fficer to arrive prior to 1% Quarter, 2007

k) Rear Gate: No award.
1) Reception: No award.
m) Recreation Officer: 23 minutes per shift.

n) Reservation Patrol: No award.

o) Special Housing Unit #1 Officer: 16 minutes per shift prior to change in post orders (re: Lt.
check-in).

11 minutes per shift after change in post orders.

p) Special Housing Unit #2, #3, #4
and Recreation and Property Officers: No award.

q) Visiting Room: No award.
r) Visiting Escort: No award.

s) Non-Custody Staff Working Custody Posts: Same compensation as custody post plus 3
additional minutes per shift.

t) Posted Picture File: 14.75 minutes per month for all correctional posts except Count and
Compound.

u) Emergency Responses: No award,

3. Jurisdiction is retained until the issue of damages (including whether liquidated damages are
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warranted, whether the recovery period should extend to 2002 or 2003,

attorneys” fees and costs) is resolved.

Dated: October 9, 2008
Sea Cliff, New York
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